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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes  of this  Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this  Quarterly Report), the terms “Oracle,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporation and i ts  
consol idated subs idiaries . This  Quarterly Report contains  statements  that are not historical  in nature, are predictive in nature, or that depend upon or refer to 
future events  or conditions  or otherwise contain forward-looking statements  within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securi ties  Exchange Act of 1934, as  
amended (the Exchange Act), and Section 27A of the Securi ties  Act of 1933, as  amended (the Securi ties  Act). These include, among other things , s tatements  
regarding:

•our expectation that we may acquire, and real ize the anticipated benefi ts  of acquiring, companies , products , services  and technologies  to further 
our corporate strategy as  compel l ing opportunities  become avai lable;

•our expectation that, on a constant currency bas is , our total  cloud and l icense revenues general ly wi l l  continue to increase due to expected growth 
in our cloud services  and continued demand for our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense and l icense support offerings;

•our expectation that substantia l ly a l l  of our customers  wi l l  renew their l icense support contracts  upon expiration;

•our expectation that current and expected customer demand wi l l  require continued growth in our cloud services  and l icense support expenses  in 
order to increase our existing data center capacity and establ ish additional  data centers  in new geographic locations;

•our expectation that our hardware bus iness  wi l l  have lower operating margins  as  a  percentage of revenues than our cloud and l icense bus iness;

•our expectation that we wi l l  continue to make s igni ficant investments  in research and development to maintain and improve our current products  
and service offerings , and our bel ief that research and development efforts  are essentia l  to maintaining our competitive pos ition;

•our expectations  regarding the financial  performance and long-term potentia l  of one of our investment companies;

•our expectation that our international  operations  wi l l  continue to provide a s igni ficant portion of our total  revenues and expenses;

•our expectation that the proportion of our cloud services  revenues relative to our total  revenues wi l l  continue to increase;

•the sufficiency of our sources  of funding for working capital , capital  expenditures , contractual  obl igations, acquis i tions, dividends, stock 
repurchases, debt repayments  and other matters ;

•our bel ief that we have adequately provided under United States  (U.S.) general ly accepted accounting principles  for outcomes related to our tax 
audits , that the final  outcome of our tax-related examinations, agreements  or judicia l  proceedings  wi l l  not have a materia l  effect on our results  of 
operations, and that our net deferred tax assets  wi l l  l ikely be real ized in the foreseeable future;

•our bel ief that the outcome of certain legal  proceedings  and cla ims to which we are a  party wi l l  not, individual ly or in the aggregate, result in 
losses  that are materia l ly in excess  of amounts  a lready recognized, i f any;

•the poss ibi l i ty that certain legal  proceedings  to which we are a  party could have a materia l  impact on our financial  pos ition or results  of 
operations;

•the timing and amount of expenses  we expect to incur;

•the cost savings  we expect to real ize pursuant to the Fiscal  2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan;
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•declarations  and amounts  of future cash dividend payments  and the timing and amount of future stock repurchases, including our expectation that 
the levels  of our future stock repurchase activi ty may be modified in comparison to past periods  in order to use avai lable cash for other purposes;

•our abi l i ty to predict revenues, particularly certain cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues and hardware revenues;

•the percentages  of remaining performance obl igations  that we expect to recognize as  revenues over respective future periods;

as  wel l  as  other statements  regarding our future operations, financial  condition and prospects , and bus iness  strategies . Forward-looking statements  may be 
preceded by, fol lowed by or include the words  “anticipates ,” “bel ieves,” “commits ,” “continues,” “could,” “endeavors ,” “estimates,” “expects ,” “future,” “goal ,” 
“intends,” “is  des igned to,” “l ikely,” “maintains ,” “may,” “plans,” “potentia l ,” “seeks,” “shal l ,” “should,” “strives ,” “wi l l” and s imi lar express ions. We cla im the 
protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements  contained in the Exchange Act and the Securi ties  Act for a l l  forward-looking statements . We have 
based these forward-looking statements  on our current expectations  and projections  about future events . These forward-looking statements  are subject to risks , 
uncertainties  and assumptions  about our bus iness  that could affect our future results  and could cause those results  or other outcomes to di ffer materia l ly from 
those expressed or impl ied in the forward-looking statements . Factors  that might cause or contribute to such di fferences  include, but are not l imited to, those 
discussed in “Risk Factors” included in documents  we fi le from time to time with the U.S. Securi ties  and Exchange Commiss ion, including our Annual  Report on 
Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024 and our other Quarterly Reports  on Form 10-Q fi led by us  in our fi scal  year 2025, which runs  from June 1, 
2024 to May 31, 2025.

We have no obl igation to publ icly update or revise any forward-looking statements , whether as  a  result of new information, future events  or risks , except to the 
extent required by appl icable securi ties  laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements , no inference should be drawn that we wi l l  make 
additional  updates  with respect to those or other forward-looking statements . New information, future events  or risks  could cause the forward-looking events  
we discuss  in this  Quarterly Report not to occur. You should not place undue rel iance on these forward-looking statements , which reflect our expectations  only 
as  of the date of this  Quarterly Report.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024
(Unaudited)

 

(in millions, except per share data)  
February 28,

2025   
May 31,

2024  
ASSETS       

Curre nt a s s e ts :       
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  $ 17,406   $ 10,454  
Ma rke ta bl e  s e curi ti e s   417    207  
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s , ne t of a l l owa nce s  for cre di t l os s e s  of $556 a nd $485 a s  of Fe brua ry 28, 2025 a nd Ma y 31, 2024, 
re s pe cti ve l y   8,051    7,874  
Pre pa i d e xpe ns e s  a nd othe r curre nt a s s e ts   4,242    4,019  

Tota l  curre nt a s s e ts   30,116    22,554  
Non-curre nt a s s e ts :       

Prope rty, pl a nt a nd e qui pme nt, ne t   31,970    21,536  
Inta ngi bl e  a s s e ts , ne t   5,131    6,890  
Goodwi l l , ne t   62,171    62,230  
De fe rre d ta x a s s e ts   11,799    12,273  
Othe r non-curre nt a s s e ts   20,191    15,493  

Tota l  non-curre nt a s s e ts   131,262    118,422  
Tota l  a s s e ts  $ 161,378   $ 140,976  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       
Curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s :       

Note s  pa ya bl e  a nd othe r borrowi ngs , curre nt  $ 8,167   $ 10,605  
Accounts  pa ya bl e   2,423    2,357  
Accrue d compe ns a ti on a nd re l a te d be ne fi ts   1,839    1,916  
De fe rre d re ve nue s   9,019    9,313  
Othe r curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s   8,175    7,353  

Tota l  curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s   29,623    31,544  
Non-curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s :       

Note s  pa ya bl e  a nd othe r borrowi ngs , non-curre nt   88,109    76,264  
Income  ta xe s  pa ya bl e   9,813    10,817  
De fe rre d ta x l i a bi l i ti e s   2,208    3,692  
Othe r non-curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s   14,364    9,420  

Tota l  non-curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s   114,494    100,193  
Commi tme nts  a nd conti nge nci e s       
Ora cl e  Corpora ti on s tockhol de rs ’ e qui ty:       

Pre fe rre d s tock, $0.01 pa r va l ue —a uthori ze d: 1.0 s ha re s ; outs ta ndi ng: none   —    —  
Common s tock, $0.01 pa r va l ue  a nd a ddi ti ona l  pa i d i n ca pi ta l —a uthori ze d: 11,000 s ha re s ; outs ta ndi ng: 
2,803 s ha re s  a nd 2,755 s ha re s  a s  of Fe brua ry 28, 2025 a nd Ma y 31, 2024, re s pe cti ve l y   35,691    32,764  
Accumul a te d de fi ci t   (17,368 )   (22,628 )
Accumul a te d othe r compre he ns i ve  l os s   (1,593 )   (1,432 )

Tota l  Ora cl e  Corpora ti on s tockhol de rs ’ e qui ty   16,730    8,704  
Noncontrol l i ng i nte re s ts   531    535  

Tota l  s tockhol de rs ’ e qui ty   17,261    9,239  
Tota l  l i a bi l i ti e s  a nd s tockhol de rs ’ e qui ty  $ 161,378   $ 140,976  

 
 
See notes  to condensed consol idated financial  s tatements .
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Three and Nine Months Ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024
(Unaudited)

 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions, except per share data)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Re ve nue s :             

Cl oud s e rvi ce s  a nd l i ce ns e  s upport  $ 11,007   $ 9,963   $ 32,331   $ 29,149  
Cl oud l i ce ns e  a nd on-pre mi s e  l i ce ns e   1,129    1,256    3,194    3,243  
Ha rdwa re   703    754    2,086    2,224  
Se rvi ce s   1,291    1,307    3,885    4,058  

Tota l  re ve nue s   14,130    13,280    41,496    38,674  
Ope ra ti ng e xpe ns e s :             

Cl oud s e rvi ce s  a nd l i ce ns e  s upport   2,882    2,452    8,226    6,905  
Ha rdwa re   197    217    530    649  
Se rvi ce s   1,116    1,200    3,430    3,665  
Sa l e s  a nd ma rke ti ng   2,119    2,042    6,345    6,161  
Re s e a rch a nd de ve l opme nt

  2,429    2,248    7,206    6,689  
Ge ne ra l  a nd a dmi ni s tra ti ve   390    377    1,135    1,146  
Amorti za ti on of i nta ngi bl e  a s s e ts   548    749    1,763    2,267  
Acqui s i ti on re l a te d a nd othe r   28    155    72    214  
Re s tructuri ng   63    90    220    311  

Tota l  ope ra ti ng e xpe ns e s   9,772    9,530    28,927    28,007  
Ope ra ti ng i ncome   4,358    3,750    12,569    10,667  
Inte re s t e xpe ns e   (892 )   (876 )   (2,600 )   (2,636 )
Non-ope ra ti ng (e xpe ns e s ) i ncome , ne t   (18 )   (9 )   39    (72 )
Income  be fore  i ncome  ta xe s   3,448    2,865    10,008    7,959  
Provi s i on for i ncome  ta xe s   512    464    992    636  
Ne t i ncome  $ 2,936   $ 2,401   $ 9,016   $ 7,323  
Ea rni ngs  pe r s ha re :             

Ba s i c  $ 1.05   $ 0.87   $ 3.24   $ 2.67  
Di l ute d  $ 1.02   $ 0.85   $ 3.15   $ 2.60  

We i ghte d a ve ra ge  common s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng:             
Ba s i c   2,799    2,748    2,783    2,741  
Di l ute d   2,874    2,819    2,865    2,820  

 
(1)Exclusive of amortization of intangible assets, which is shown separately.
 
 
See notes  to condensed consol idated financial  s tatements . 

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Three and Nine Months Ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024
(Unaudited)

 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Ne t i ncome  $ 2,936   $ 2,401   $ 9,016   $ 7,323  
Othe r compre he ns i ve  (l os s ) i ncome , ne t of ta x:             

Ne t fore i gn curre ncy tra ns l a ti on (l os s e s ) ga i ns   (54 )   (35 )   (51 )   7  
Ne t unre a l i ze d (l os s e s ) ga i ns  on ca s h fl ow he dge s   (19 )   (3 )   (107 )   52  
Othe r, ne t   (1 )   (1 )   (3 )   (3 )

Tota l  othe r compre he ns i ve  (l os s ) i ncome , ne t   (74 )   (39 )   (161 )   56  
Compre he ns i ve  i ncome  $ 2,862   $ 2,362   $ 8,855   $ 7,379  
 
 
 
See notes  to condensed consol idated financial  s tatements .
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Three and Nine Months Ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024
(Unaudited)

 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions, except per share data)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Common stock and additional paid in capital             
Ba l a nce , be gi nni ng of pe ri od  $ 34,310   $ 30,724   $ 32,764   $ 30,215  
Common s tock i s s ue d   213    28    520    454  
Stock-ba s e d compe ns a ti on   1,198    1,048    3,374    2,927  
Re purcha s e s  of common s tock   (10 )   (46 )   (34 )   (103 )
Sha re s  re purcha s e d for ta x wi thhol di ngs  upon ve s ti ng of re s tri cte d s tock-ba s e d a wa rds   (1 )   (132 )   (900 )   (1,865 )
Othe r, ne t   (19 )   —    (33 )   (6 )
Ba l a nce , e nd of pe ri od  $ 35,691   $ 31,622   $ 35,691   $ 31,622  
Accumulated deficit             
Ba l a nce , be gi nni ng of pe ri od  $ (19,045 )  $ (25,431 )  $ (22,628 )  $ (27,620 )
Re purcha s e s  of common s tock   (140 )   (404 )   (416 )   (947 )
Ca s h di vi de nds  de cl a re d   (1,119 )   (1,099 )   (3,340 )   (3,289 )
Ne t i ncome   2,936    2,401    9,016    7,323  
Ba l a nce , e nd of pe ri od  $ (17,368 )  $ (24,533 )  $ (17,368 )  $ (24,533 )
Other stockholders’ equity, net             
Ba l a nce , be gi nni ng of pe ri od  $ (1,029 )  $ (915 )  $ (897 )  $ (1,039 )
Othe r compre he ns i ve  (l os s ) i ncome , ne t

  (74 )   (39 )   (161 )   56  
Othe r, ne t   41    47    (4 )   76  
Ba l a nce , e nd of pe ri od  $ (1,062 )  $ (907 )  $ (1,062 )  $ (907 )
Total stockholders’ equity  $ 17,261   $ 6,182   $ 17,261   $ 6,182  
Ca s h di vi de nds  de cl a re d pe r common s ha re  $ 0.40   $ 0.40   $ 1.20   $ 1.20  
 
 
 
See notes  to condensed consol idated financial  s tatements .
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Nine Months Ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024
(Unaudited)

 
  Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Ca s h fl ows  from ope ra ti ng a cti vi ti e s :       

Ne t i ncome  $ 9,016   $ 7,323  
Adjus tme nts  to re conci l e  ne t i ncome  to ne t ca s h provi de d by ope ra ti ng a cti vi ti e s :       

De pre ci a ti on   2,715    2,318  
Amorti za ti on of i nta ngi bl e  a s s e ts   1,763    2,267  
De fe rre d i ncome  ta xe s   (1,097 )   (1,755 )
Stock-ba s e d compe ns a ti on   3,374    2,927  
Othe r, ne t   422    631  
Cha nge s  i n ope ra ti ng a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i ti e s :       

Incre a s e  i n tra de  re ce i va bl e s , ne t   (312 )   (409 )
De cre a s e  i n pre pa i d e xpe ns e s  a nd othe r a s s e ts   603    457  
De cre a s e  i n a ccounts  pa ya bl e  a nd othe r l i a bi l i ti e s   (633 )   (682 )
De cre a s e  i n i ncome  ta xe s  pa ya bl e   (1,222 )   (788 )
Incre a s e  i n de fe rre d re ve nue s   35    303  

Ne t ca s h provi de d by ope ra ti ng a cti vi ti e s   14,664    12,592  
Ca s h fl ows  from i nve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s :       

Purcha s e s  of ma rke ta bl e  s e curi ti e s  a nd othe r i nve s tme nts   (838 )   (674 )
Proce e ds  from s a l e s  a nd ma turi ti e s  of ma rke ta bl e  s e curi ti e s  a nd othe r i nve s tme nts   444    207  
Acqui s i ti ons , ne t of ca s h a cqui re d   —    (59 )
Ca pi ta l  e xpe ndi ture s   (12,135 )   (4,068 )

Ne t ca s h us e d for i nve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s   (12,529 )   (4,594 )
Ca s h fl ows  from fi na nci ng a cti vi ti e s :       

Pa yme nts  for re purcha s e s  of common s tock   (450 )   (1,050 )
Proce e ds  from i s s ua nce s  of common s tock   520    454  
Sha re s  re purcha s e d for ta x wi thhol di ngs  upon ve s ti ng of re s tri cte d s tock-ba s e d a wa rds   (900 )   (1,865 )
Pa yme nts  of di vi de nds  to s tockhol de rs   (3,340 )   (3,289 )
(Re pa yme nts  of) proce e ds  from i s s ua nce s  of comme rci a l  pa pe r, ne t   (396 )   936  
Proce e ds  from i s s ua nce s  of s e ni or note s  a nd te rm l oa n cre di t a gre e me nts , ne t of i s s ua nce  cos ts   19,548    —  
Re pa yme nts  of s e ni or note s  a nd te rm l oa n cre di t a gre e me nts   (9,771 )   (3,500 )
Othe r, ne t   (299 )   34  

Ne t ca s h provi de d by (us e d for) fi na nci ng a cti vi ti e s   4,912    (8,280 )
Effe ct of e xcha nge  ra te  cha nge s  on ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts   (95 )   (2 )
Ne t i ncre a s e  (de cre a s e ) i n ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts   6,952    (284 )
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t be gi nni ng of pe ri od   10,454    9,765  
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t e nd of pe ri od  $ 17,406   $ 9,481  
Non-ca s h i nve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s :       

Unpa i d ca pi ta l  e xpe ndi ture s  $ 1,846   $ 941  
 
 
 
See notes  to condensed consol idated financial  s tatements .
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

February 28, 2025
(Unaudited)

 
1.BASIS OF PRESENTATION, RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS AND OTHER

Basis of Presentation

We have prepared the condensed consol idated financial  s tatements  included herein pursuant to the rules  and regulations  of the U.S. Securi ties  and Exchange 
Commiss ion (the SEC). Certain information and footnote disclosures  normal ly included in financial  s tatements  prepared in accordance with U.S. general ly 
accepted accounting principles  (GAAP) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules  and regulations. However, we bel ieve that the disclosures  herein 
are adequate to ensure the information presented is  not mis leading. These unaudited condensed consol idated financial  s tatements  should be read in 
conjunction with the audited consol idated financial  s tatements  and the notes  thereto included in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 
31, 2024.

We bel ieve that a l l  necessary adjustments , which cons isted only of normal  recurring i tems, have been included in the accompanying financial  s tatements  to 
present fa i rly the results  of the interim periods. The results  of operations  for the interim periods  presented are not necessari ly indicative of the operating 
results  to be expected for any subsequent interim period or for the fiscal  year ending May 31, 2025. 

There have been no changes  to our s igni ficant accounting pol icies  as  disclosed in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024 that 
had a s igni ficant impact on our condensed consol idated financial  s tatements  or notes  thereto as  of and for the nine months  ended February 28, 2025.

Use of Estimates

Our condensed consol idated financial  s tatements  are prepared in accordance with GAAP as  set forth in the Financial  Accounting Standards  Board’s  (FASB) 
Accounting Standards  Codification (ASC), and we cons ider various  staff accounting bul letins  and other appl icable guidance issued by the SEC. These accounting 
principles  require us  to make certain estimates, judgments  and assumptions. We bel ieve that the estimates, judgments  and assumptions  upon which we rely are 
reasonable based upon information avai lable to us  at the time that these estimates, judgments  and assumptions  are made. These estimates, judgments  and 
assumptions  can affect the reported amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  as  of the date of the financial  s tatements  as  wel l  as  the reported amounts  of revenues and 
expenses  during the periods  presented. To the extent that there are di fferences  between these estimates, judgments  or assumptions  and actual  results , our 
consol idated financial  s tatements  wi l l  be affected. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a  particular transaction is  speci fical ly dictated by GAAP and 
does  not require management’s  judgment in i ts  appl ication. There are a lso areas  in which management’s  judgment in selecting among avai lable a l ternatives  
would not produce a materia l ly di fferent result. 

During the fi rst quarter of fi scal  2025, we completed an assessment of the useful  l ives  of our servers  and networking equipment and increased the estimate of 
the useful  l ives  from five years  to s ix years , effective at the beginning of fi scal  2025. Based on the carrying value of our servers  and networking equipment as  of 
May 31, 2024, this  change in accounting estimate decreased our total  operating expenses  by $181 mi l l ion and increased our net income by $136 mi l l ion, or 
$0.05 per both bas ic and di luted share, for the third quarter of fi scal  2025 and decreased our total  operating expenses  by $567 mi l l ion and increased our net 
income by $442 mi l l ion, or $0.16 per bas ic and $0.15 per di luted share, for the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Restricted cash that was  included within cash and cash equivalents  as  presented within our condensed consol idated balance sheets  as  of February 28, 2025 
and May 31, 2024 and our condensed consol idated statements  of cash flows for the nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024 was 
immateria l .



 
 

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

February 28, 2025
(Unaudited)

 

9

Table of Contents

Remaining Performance Obligations from Contracts with Customers

Trade receivables , net of a l lowance for credit losses , and deferred revenues are reported net of related uncol lected deferred revenues in our condensed 
consol idated balance sheets  as  of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024. The revenues recognized during the nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 
29, 2024 that were included in the opening deferred revenues balances  as  of May 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $8.6 bi l l ion and $8.5 bi l l ion, 
respectively. Revenues recognized from performance obl igations  satis fied in prior periods  and impairment losses  recognized on our receivables  were 
immateria l  in each of the three and nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively.

Remaining performance obl igations, as  defined in Note 1 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024, were $130.2 bi l l ion as  of February 28, 2025, of which we expect to recognize approximately 31% as  revenues over the next 
twelve months, 40% over the subsequent month 13 to month 36, 25% over the subsequent month 37 to month 60 and the remainder thereafter.

Sales of Financing Receivables

We offer certain of our customers  the option to acquire certain of our cloud and l icense, hardware and services  offerings  through separate long-term payment 
contracts . We general ly sel l  these contracts  that we have financed for our customers  on a non-recourse bas is  to financial  insti tutions  within 90 days  of the 
contracts ’ dates  of execution. We record the transfers  of amounts  due from customers  to financial  insti tutions  as  sales  of financing receivables  because we are 
cons idered to have surrendered control  of these financing receivables . Financing receivables  sold to financial  insti tutions  were $306 mi l l ion and $1.2 bi l l ion 
for the three and nine months  ended February 28, 2025, respectively, and $269 mi l l ion and $1.1 bi l l ion for the three and nine months  ended February 29, 2024, 
respectively.

Non-Marketable Investments

As of each of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024, our non-marketable debt investments  and equity securi ties  and related instruments  totaled $2.0 bi l l ion, and 
are included in other non-current assets  in the accompanying condensed consol idated balance sheets  and are subject to periodic credit losses  and impairment 
reviews. Certain of these non-marketable equity securi ties  and related instruments  are adjusted for observable price changes  from orderly transactions. The 
majori ty of the non-marketable investments  held as  of these dates  were with Ampere Computing Holdings  LLC (Ampere), a  related party enti ty in which we have 
an ownership interest of approximately 29% as  of February 28, 2025. We fol low the equity method of accounting for our investment in Ampere and our share of 
loss  under the equity method of accounting is  recorded in the non-operating (expenses) income, net l ine i tem in our condensed consol idated statements  of 
operations. We also have convertible debt investments  in Ampere which, under the terms of an agreement with Ampere and other co-investors , wi l l  mature in 
June 2026 and are convertible into equity securi ties  at the holder’s  option under certain ci rcumstances. During the nine months  ended February 28, 2025, we 
invested an aggregate of $225 mi l l ion in convertible debt instruments  issued by Ampere. The total  carrying value of our investments  in Ampere after accounting 
for losses  under the equity method of accounting was $1.5 bi l l ion as  of February 28, 2025. In accordance with the terms of an agreement with other co-
investors , we are a lso a  counterparty to certain put (exercisable by a  co-investor) and cal l  (exercisable by Oracle) options  at prices  of approximately $450 
mi l l ion to $1.5 bi l l ion, respectively, to acquire additional  equity interests  in Ampere from our co-investors  through January 2027. If ei ther of such options  is  
exercised by us  or our co-investors , we would obtain control  of Ampere and consol idate i ts  results  with our results  of operations. Ampere has  historical ly 
generated net losses .

Leases

We have operating and finance leases  that primari ly relate to certain of our data centers  and faci l i ties . Right-of-Use (ROU) assets  related to our operating 
leases, which are included in other non-current assets  in our condensed 
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consol idated balance sheets , were $11.7 bi l l ion and $7.3 bi l l ion as  of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024, respectively, and ROU assets  related to our finance 
leases, which are included in property, plant and equipment, net in our condensed consol idated balance sheets , were $894 mi l l ion as  of February 28, 2025 (and 
none as  of May 31, 2024). Lease l iabi l i ties  are included in other current l iabi l i ties  and other non-current l iabi l i ties  in our condensed consol idated balance 
sheets . Total  operating lease l iabi l i ties  were $12.0 bi l l ion and $7.5 bi l l ion as  of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024, respectively, and total  finance lease 
l iabi l i ties  were $900 mi l l ion as  of February 28, 2025 (and none as  of May 31, 2024).

Total  operating and finance lease expenses  were $454 mi l l ion and $324 mi l l ion for the three months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, 
respectively, and $1.2 bi l l ion and $840 mi l l ion for the nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively.

Operating lease payments  and interest payments  on finance leases  were $1.2 bi l l ion and $839 mi l l ion for the nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and 
February 29, 2024, respectively.

As  of February 28, 2025, we had $48.4 bi l l ion of additional  lease commitments , primari ly for data centers , that are general ly expected to commence between 
fiscal  2025 and fiscal  2027 and for terms of ten to fi fteen years  that were not reflected on our condensed consol idated balance sheets  as  of February 28, 2025.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquis i tion related and other expenses  primari ly cons ist of personnel  related costs  for trans itional  and certain other employees, certain bus iness  combination 
adjustments , including adjustments  after the measurement period has  ended, and certain other operating i tems, net.
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Trans itional  and other employee related costs  $ —   $ 5   $ 3   $ 17  
Bus iness  combination adjustments , net   1    4    (4 )   17  
Other, net   27    146    73    180  

Total  acquis i tion related and other expenses  $ 28   $ 155   $ 72   $ 214  

Non-Operating (Expenses) Income, net

Non-operating (expenses) income, net cons ists  primari ly of interest income, net foreign currency exchange losses , the noncontrol l ing interests  in the net profi ts  
of our majori ty-owned subs idiaries  (primari ly Oracle Financial  Services  Software Limited and Oracle Corporation Japan), net losses  related to marketable and 
non-marketable investments , including losses  attributable to equity method investments  (primari ly Ampere) and net other income and expenses, including net 
unreal ized gains  and losses  from our investment portfol io related to our deferred compensation plan and non-service net periodic pens ion income and losses .
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  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Interest income  $ 135   $ 111   $ 418   $ 380  
Foreign currency losses , net   (37 )   (59 )   (96 )   (172 )
Noncontrol l ing interests  in income   (48 )   (51 )   (138 )   (130 )
Losses  from marketable and non-marketable investments , net   (59 )   (94 )   (236 )   (290 )
Other (expenses) income, net   (9 )   84    91    140  

Total  non-operating (expenses) income, net  $ (18 )  $ (9 )  $ 39   $ (72 )
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Segment Reporting: In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (ASU 2023-
07), which enhances  the disclosures  required for operating segments  in our annual  and interim consol idated financial  s tatements . ASU 2023-07 is  effective for 
us  for our annual  reporting for fi scal  2025 and for interim period reporting beginning in fi scal  2026 on a retrospective bas is . Early adoption is  permitted. We 
are currently evaluating the impact of our pending adoption of ASU 2023-07 on our consol idated financial  s tatements .

Income Taxes: In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (ASU 2023-09), which enhances  
the disclosures  required for income taxes  in our annual  consol idated financial  s tatements . ASU 2023-09 is  effective for us  for our annual  reporting for fi scal  
2026 on a prospective bas is . Both early adoption and retrospective appl ication are permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of our pending adoption 
of ASU 2023-09 on our consol idated financial  s tatements .

Income Statement: In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures 
(Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (ASU 2024-03) and also issued subsequent guidance clari fying the effective date of the ini tia l  
guidance (col lectively Subtopic 220-40), which enhances  the disclosures  required for expense disaggregation in our annual  and interim consol idated financial  
s tatements . This  guidance is  effective for us  for our annual  reporting for fi scal  2028 and for interim period reporting beginning in fi scal  2029 on a prospective 
bas is . Both early adoption and retrospective appl ication are permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of our pending adoption of Subtopic 220-40 on 
our consol idated financial  s tatements .

2.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We perform fair value measurements  in accordance with FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement (ASC 820). ASC 820 defines  fa i r value as  the price that would be 
received from sel l ing an asset or paid to transfer a  l iabi l i ty in an orderly transaction between market participants  at the measurement date. When determining 
the fa ir value measurements  for assets  and l iabi l i ties  required to be recorded at their fa i r values, we cons ider the principal  or most advantageous market in 
which we would transact and cons ider assumptions  that market participants  would use when pricing the assets  or l iabi l i ties , such as  inherent risk, transfer 
restrictions  and risk of nonperformance.
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ASC 820 establ ishes  a  fa i r value hierarchy that requires  an enti ty to maximize the use of observable inputs  and minimize the use of unobservable inputs  when 
measuring fa ir value. An asset’s  or a  l iabi l i ty’s  categorization within the fa ir value hierarchy is  based upon the lowest level  of input that i s  s igni ficant to the fa ir 
value measurement. ASC 820 establ ishes  three levels  of inputs  that may be used to measure fa ir value:

•Level  1:  quoted prices  in active markets  for identical  assets  or l iabi l i ties ;

•Level  2:  inputs  other than Level  1 that are observable, ei ther directly or indirectly, such as  quoted prices  in active markets  for s imi lar assets  or 
l iabi l i ties , quoted prices  for identical  or s imi lar assets  or l iabi l i ties  in markets  that are not active, or other inputs  that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantia l ly the ful l  term of the assets  or l iabi l i ties ; or

•Level  3:  unobservable inputs  that are supported by l i ttle or no market activi ty and that are s igni ficant to the fa ir values  of the assets  or l iabi l i ties .

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Our assets  and l iabi l i ties  measured at fa i r value on a recurring bas is  cons isted of the fol lowing (Level  1 and Level  2 inputs  are defined above):
 

  February 28, 2025   May 31, 2024  

  
Fair Value Measurements

Using Input Types      
Fair Value Measurements

Using Input Types     
(in millions)  Level 1   Level 2   Total   Level 1   Level 2   Total  
Assets :                   

Money market funds  $ 9,927   $ —   $ 9,927   $ 2,620   $ —   $ 2,620  
Time deposits  and other   50    512    562    48    262    310  
Derivative financial  instruments   —    72    72    —    179    179  

Total  assets  $ 9,977   $ 584   $ 10,561   $ 2,668   $ 441   $ 3,109  
Liabi l i ties :                   

Derivative financial  instruments  $ —   $ 93   $ 93   $ —   $ 96   $ 96  
 
Our cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  investments  cons ist of money market funds, time deposits  and marketable equity securi ties . Marketable 
securi ties  as  presented per our condensed consol idated balance sheets  included debt securi ties  with original  maturi ties  at the time of purchase greater than 
three months  and the remainder of the debt securi ties  were included in cash and cash equivalents . We class i fy our marketable debt securi ties  as  avai lable-for-
sale debt securi ties  at the time of purchase and reevaluate such class i fication as  of each balance sheet date. As  of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024, a l l  of 
our marketable debt securi ties  investments  mature within one year. Our valuation techniques  used to measure the fa ir values  of our instruments  that were 
class i fied as  Level  1 in the table above were derived from quoted market prices  and active markets  for these instruments  that exist. Our valuation techniques  
used to measure the fa ir values  of Level  2 instruments  l i s ted in the table above were derived from the fol lowing: non-binding market consensus  prices  that were 
corroborated by observable market data, quoted market prices  for s imi lar instruments , or pricing models , such as  discounted cash flow techniques, with a l l  
s igni ficant inputs  derived from or corroborated by observable market data including reference rate yield curves, among others .

Based on the trading prices  of the $96.3 bi l l ion and $86.5 bi l l ion of senior notes  and other long-term borrowings  and the related fa ir value hedges  that we had 
outstanding as  of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024, respectively, the estimated fa ir values  of the senior notes  and other long-term borrowings  and the 
related fa ir value hedges  us ing Level  2 inputs  at February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024 were $88.8 bi l l ion and $77.2 bi l l ion, respectively.
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3.NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Senior Notes

In the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, we issued $14.0 bi l l ion, par value, of senior notes  comprised of the fol lowing:
 

    February 28, 2025

(Dollars in millions)  
Date of

Issuance  Amount   

Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Fi xe d-ra te  s e ni or note s :        

$1,500, 4.80%, due  Augus t 2028  Fe brua ry 2025  $ 1,500   4.94%
$1,500, 4.20%, due  Se pte mbe r 2029  Se pte mbe r 2024   1,500   4.27%
$1,250, 5.25%, due  Fe brua ry 2032  Fe brua ry 2025   1,250   5.36%
$1,750, 4.70%, due  Se pte mbe r 2034  Se pte mbe r 2024   1,750   4.77%
$1,750, 5.50%, due  Augus t 2035  Fe brua ry 2025   1,750   5.55%
$1,750, 5.375%, due  Se pte mbe r 2054  Se pte mbe r 2024   1,750   5.43%
$1,750, 6.00%, due  Augus t 2055  Fe brua ry 2025   1,750   6.04%
$1,250, 5.50%, due  Se pte mbe r 2064  Se pte mbe r 2024   1,250   5.55%
$1,000, 6.125%, due  Augus t 2065  Fe brua ry 2025   1,000   6.17%

Fl oa ti ng-ra te  s e ni or note s :        
$500, Compounde d SOFR pl us  0.76%, due  Augus t 2028  Fe brua ry 2025   500   5.28%

Tota l  s e ni or note s    $ 14,000    
Una morti ze d di s count/i s s ua nce  cos ts     (77)   

Tota l  s e ni or note s , ne t    $ 13,923    
 
We issued the senior notes  to repay al l  or a  portion of senior notes  due between November 2024 and July 2026, and to pay accrued interest and any related 
premiums, fees  and expenses  in connection therewith; to make scheduled payments  of principal  and interest on borrowings  under a  term loan credit agreement 
executed in June 2024; to repay al l  or a  portion of commercial  paper notes  outstanding; and to use any remaining net proceeds from the borrowing for general  
corporate purposes, which may include stock repurchases, payment of cash dividends on our common stock, repayment of other indebtedness  and future 
acquis i tions. The interest i s  payable semi-annual ly for the fixed-rate senior notes  and quarterly for the floating-rate senior notes. We may redeem some or a l l  of 
the fixed-rate senior notes  of each series  prior to their maturi ty, subject to certain restrictions, and the payment of an appl icable make-whole premium in 
certain instances.

The senior notes  rank pari  passu with any other existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness  of Oracle. Al l  existing and future indebtedness  
and l iabi l i ties  of the subs idiaries  of Oracle are or wi l l  be effectively senior to the senior notes. We were in compl iance with a l l  senior notes-related covenants  
as  of February 28, 2025. The materia l  terms and conditions  of the senior notes  are set forth in, and the foregoing description of the senior notes  is  qual i fied in 
i ts  enti rety by reference to, the Officers ’ Certi ficates  fi led as  Exhibit 4.1 to Oracle’s  Current Report on Form 8-K fi led on September 27, 2024 and fi led herewith as  
Exhibit 4.01 and incorporated by reference herein.

There have been no other s igni ficant changes  in our notes  payable or other borrowing arrangements  that were disclosed in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for 
the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024.
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4.RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES

Fiscal 2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During fiscal  2024, our management approved, committed to and ini tiated plans  to restructure and further improve efficiencies  in our operations  due to our 
acquis i tions  and certain other operational  activi ties  (2024 Restructuring Plan). In the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, our management supplemented the 2024 
Restructuring Plan to reflect additional  actions  that we expect to take. The total  estimated restructuring costs  associated with the 2024 Restructuring Plan are 
up to $679 mi l l ion and wi l l  be recorded to the restructuring expense l ine i tem within our condensed consol idated statements  of operations  as  they are incurred 
through the end of the plan. We recorded $227 mi l l ion and $336 mi l l ion of restructuring expenses  in connection with the 2024 Restructuring Plan during the 
nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, respectively. Any changes  to the estimates  of executing the 2024 Restructuring Plan wi l l  be 
reflected in our future results  of operations.

Summary of All Plans
 

  Accrued   Nine Months Ended February 28, 2025   Accrued   
Total
Costs   

Total
Expected  

(in millions)  
May 31,
2024   

Initial
Costs   

Adj. to
Cost   

Cash
Payments   Others   

February 28,
2025   

Accrued
to Date   

Program
Costs  

2024 Restructuring Plan                         
Cloud and l icense  $ 87   $ 78   $ (4 )  $ (90 )  $ (2 )  $ 69   $ 269   $ 273  
Hardware   4    7    —    (6 )   —    5    16    20  
Services   12    29    —    (19 )   —    22    74    77  
Other   49    118    (1 )   (110 )   —    56    300    309  

Total  2024 Restructuring Plan  $ 152   $ 232   $ (5 )  $ (225 )  $ (2 )  $ 152   $ 659   $ 679  
Total  other restructuring plans  $ 84   $ —   $ (7 )  $ (24 )  $ (1 )  $ 52        

Total  restructuring plans  $ 236   $ 232   $ (12 )  $ (249 )  $ (3 )  $ 204        
 

(1)Restructuring costs recorded to each of the operating segments presented primarily related to employee severance costs. Other restructuring costs represented employee severance costs not related to our operating 
segments and certain other restructuring plan costs.
(2)As of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024, substantially all restructuring liabilities have been recorded in other current liabilities within our condensed consolidated balance sheets.
(3)Costs recorded for the respective restructuring plans during the period presented.
(4)All plan adjustments were changes in estimates whereby increases and decreases in costs were generally recorded to operating expenses in the period of adjustments.
(5)Represents foreign currency translation and certain other non-cash adjustments.
(6)Other restructuring plans presented in the tables above included condensed information for other Oracle based plans and other plans associated with certain of our acquisitions whereby we continued to make cash outlays 
to settle obligations under these plans during the periods presented but for which the periodic impact to our condensed consolidated statements of operations was not significant.

(2) (3) (4) (5) (2)

(1)

(6)
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5.DEFERRED REVENUES

Deferred revenues cons isted of the fol lowing:
 

(in millions)  February 28,
2025

  May 31,
2024

 

Cloud services  and l icense support  $ 8,048   $ 8,203  
Hardware   559    546  
Services   372    512  
Cloud l icense and on-premise l icense   40    52  

Deferred revenues, current   9,019    9,313  
Deferred revenues, non-current (in other non-current l iabi l i ties)   1,349    1,233  

Total  deferred revenues  $ 10,368   $ 10,546  
 
Deferred cloud services  and l icense support revenues and deferred hardware revenues substantia l ly represent customer payments  made in advance for cloud or 
support contracts  that are typical ly bi l led in advance with corresponding revenues general ly being recognized ratably or based upon customer usage over the 
respective contractual  periods. Deferred services  revenues include prepayments  for our services  bus iness  and revenues for these services  are general ly 
recognized as  the services  are performed. Deferred cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues typical ly resulted from customer payments  that related to 
undel ivered products  and services  or speci fied enhancements .
 

6.STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors  has  approved a program for us  to repurchase shares  of our common stock. As  of February 28, 2025, approximately $6.5 bi l l ion remained 
avai lable for stock repurchases  pursuant to our stock repurchase program. We repurchased 2.9 mi l l ion shares  for $450 mi l l ion during the nine months  ended 
February 28, 2025 and 9.4 mi l l ion shares  for $1.1 bi l l ion during the nine months  ended February 29, 2024 under the stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does  not have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activi ty wi l l  depend on factors  such as  our working capital  
needs, our cash requirements  for acquis i tions  and dividend payments , our debt repayment obl igations  or repurchases  of our debt, our stock price and economic 
and market conditions. Our stock repurchases  may be effected from time to time through open market purchases  or pursuant to a  Rule 10b5-1 trading plan. Our 
stock repurchase program may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

Dividends on Common Stock

In March 2025, our Board of Directors  declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.50 per share of our outstanding common stock, an increase of $0.10 per share 
over the dividend declared in December 2024. The dividend is  payable on Apri l  23, 2025 to stockholders  of record as  of the close of bus iness  on Apri l  10, 2025. 
Future declarations  of dividends and the establ ishment of future record and payment dates  are subject to the final  determination of our Board of Directors .

Fiscal 2025 Stock‑Based Awards Activity and Compensation Expense

During the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, we issued 35 mi l l ion restricted stock-based units  (RSUs), substantia l ly a l l  of which were part of our annual  stock-
based award process  and are subject to service-based vesting restrictions. 
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These fiscal  2025 stock-based award issuances  were partia l ly offset by stock-based award forfei tures  and cancel lations  of 5 mi l l ion shares  during the fi rst nine 
months  of fi scal  2025.

The RSUs that were granted during the nine months  ended February 28, 2025 have substantia l ly s imi lar vesting restrictions  and contractual  l ives  and were 
valued us ing methodologies  of a  s imi lar nature as  those described in Note 12 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included in our Annual  Report on 
Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024.

Stock-based compensation expense is  included in the fol lowing operating expense l ine i tems in our condensed consol idated statements  of operations:
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Cloud services  and l icense support  $ 160   $ 138   $ 459   $ 386  
Hardware   8    6    21    17  
Services   54    45    150    123  
Sales  and marketing   200    179    556    488  
Research and development   675    584    1,902    1,642  
General  and administrative   101    96    286    271  

Total  s tock-based compensation  $ 1,198   $ 1,048   $ 3,374   $ 2,927  
 

7.INCOME TAXES

Our effective tax rates  for each of the periods  presented are the result of the mix of income earned and losses  incurred in various  tax jurisdictions  that apply a  
broad range of income tax rates . Our provis ion for income taxes  varied from the tax computed at the U.S. federal  s tatutory income tax rate for the periods  
presented primari ly due to earnings  in foreign operations, s tate taxes, the U.S. research and development tax credit, settlements  with tax authori ties , the tax 
effects  of stock-based compensation, the Foreign Derived Intangible Income deduction and the tax effect of Global  Intangible Low-Taxed Income. Our effective 
tax rates  were 14.9% and 9.9% for the three and nine months  ended February 28, 2025, respectively, and 16.2% and 8.0% for the three and nine months  ended 
February 29, 2024, respectively.

Our net deferred tax assets  were $9.6 bi l l ion and $8.6 bi l l ion as  of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024, respectively. We bel ieve that i t i s  more l ikely than not 
that the net deferred tax assets  wi l l  be real ized in the foreseeable future. Real ization of our net deferred tax assets  i s  dependent upon our generation of 
sufficient taxable income in future years  in appropriate tax jurisdictions  to obtain benefi t from the reversal  of temporary di fferences, net operating loss  
carryforwards  and tax credit carryforwards. The amount of net deferred tax assets  cons idered real izable is  subject to adjustment in future periods  i f estimates  
of future taxable income change.

Domestical ly, U.S. federal  and state taxing authori ties  are currently examining income tax returns  of Oracle and various  acquired enti ties  for years  through 
fiscal  2022. Our U.S. federal  income tax returns  have been examined for a l l  years  prior to fiscal  2013 and, with some exceptions, we are no longer subject to 
audit for those periods. Our U.S. s tate income tax returns, with some exceptions, have been examined for a l l  years  prior to fiscal  2010, and we are no longer 
subject to audit for those periods.

International ly, tax authori ties  for numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions  are a lso examining or have examined returns  of Oracle and various  acquired enti ties  for 
years  through fiscal  2024. Many of the relevant tax years  are at an advanced stage in examination or subsequent controversy resolution processes. With some 
exceptions, we are general ly no longer subject to tax examinations  in non-U.S. jurisdictions  for years  prior to fiscal  2001.
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We are under audit by the IRS and various  other domestic and foreign tax authori ties  with regards  to income tax and indirect tax matters  and are involved in 
various  chal lenges  and l i tigation in a  number of countries , including, in particular, Austral ia , Brazi l , Canada, Egypt, India, Indonesia, Israel , Ita ly, Pakistan, 
Saudi  Arabia, South Korea and Spain, where the amounts  under controversy are s igni ficant. In some, a l though not a l l , cases , we have reserved for potentia l  
adjustments  to our provis ion for income taxes  and accrual  of indirect taxes  that may result from examinations  by, or any negotiated agreements  with, these tax 
authori ties  or final  outcomes in judicia l  proceedings  and we bel ieve that the final  outcome of these examinations, agreements  or judicia l  proceedings  wi l l  not 
have a materia l  effect on our results  of operations. If events  occur which indicate payment of these amounts  is  unnecessary, the reversal  of the l iabi l i ties  would 
result in the recognition of benefi ts  in the period we determine the l iabi l i ties  are no longer necessary. If our estimates  of the federal , s tate and foreign income 
tax l iabi l i ties  and indirect tax l iabi l i ties  are less  than the ultimate assessment, i t could result in a  further charge to expense.

We bel ieve that we have adequately provided under GAAP for outcomes related to our tax audits . However, there can be no assurances  as  to the poss ible 
outcomes or any related financial  s tatement effect thereof.

8.SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establ ishes  standards  for reporting information about operating segments . Operating segments  are defined as  components  of an 
enterprise about which separate financial  information is  avai lable that i s  evaluated regularly by the chief operating decis ion maker, or decis ion-making group, 
in deciding how to al locate resources  and in assess ing performance. Our chief operating decis ion makers  (CODMs) are our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Technology Officer. We are organized by l ine of bus iness  and geographical ly. Whi le our CODMs evaluate results  in a  number of di fferent ways, the l ine of 
bus iness  management structure is  the primary bas is  for which the al location of resources  and financial  results  are assessed. The tabular information below 
presents  financial  information that i s  provided to our CODMs for their review and ass ists  our CODMs with evaluating the company’s  performance and 
al locating company resources.

We have three bus inesses—cloud and l icense, hardware and services—each of which is  comprised of a  s ingle operating segment. Al l  three of our bus inesses  
market and sel l  our offerings  global ly to bus inesses  of many s izes , government agencies , educational  insti tutions  and resel lers  with a  worldwide sales  force 
pos itioned to offer the combinations  that best meet customer needs.

Our cloud and l icense bus iness  engages  in the sale, marketing and del ivery of our enterprise appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  through cloud and 
on-premise deployment models  including our cloud services  and l icense support offerings; and our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense offerings . Cloud 
services  and l icense support revenues are generated from offerings  that are typical ly contracted with customers  directly, bi l led to customers  in advance, 
del ivered to customers  over time with our revenue recognition occurring over the contractual  terms and renewed by customers  upon completion of the 
contractual  terms. Cloud services  and l icense support contracts  provide customers  with access  to the latest updates  to the appl ications  and infrastructure 
technologies  as  they become avai lable and for which the customer contracted and also include related technical  support services  over the contractual  term. 
Cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues represent fees  earned from granting customers  l icenses, general ly on a perpetual  bas is , to use our database and 
middleware and our appl ications  software products  within cloud and on-premise information technology (IT) environments . We general ly recognize revenues at 
the point in time the software is  made avai lable to the customer to download and use, which typical ly i s  immediate upon s ignature of the l icense contract. In 
each fiscal  year, our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ contractual  activi ties  are typical ly highest in our fourth fiscal  quarter and the related cash flows are typical ly 
highest in the fol lowing quarter (i .e., in the fi rst fi scal  quarter of the next fi scal  year) as  we receive payments  from these contracts .

Our hardware bus iness  provides  infrastructure technologies  including Oracle Engineered Systems, servers , s torage, industry-speci fic hardware, operating 
systems, vi rtual ization, management and other hardware-related software to support diverse IT environments . Our hardware bus iness  a lso offers  hardware 
support, which provides  customers  
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with software updates  for the software components  that are essentia l  to the functional i ty of their hardware products  and can also include product repairs , 
maintenance services  and technical  support services  that are typical ly del ivered and recognized ratably over the contractual  term. 

Our services  bus iness  provides  services  to customers  and partners  to help maximize the performance of their investments  in Oracle appl ications  and 
infrastructure technologies .

We do not track our assets  for each bus iness . Consequently, i t i s  not practical  to show assets  by operating segment.

The fol lowing table presents  summary results  for each of our three bus inesses:
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Cloud and l icense:             

Revenues  $ 12,136   $ 11,219   $ 35,525   $ 32,392  
Cloud services  and l icense support expenses   2,690    2,288    7,667    6,433  
Sales  and marketing expenses   1,817    1,758    5,477    5,339  
Margin  $ 7,629   $ 7,173   $ 22,381   $ 20,620  

Hardware:             
Revenues  $ 703   $ 754   $ 2,086   $ 2,224  
Hardware products  and support expenses   187    208    499    623  
Sales  and marketing expenses   66    72    201    220  
Margin  $ 450   $ 474   $ 1,386   $ 1,381  

Services:             
Revenues  $ 1,291   $ 1,307   $ 3,885   $ 4,058  
Services  expenses   1,029    1,120    3,174    3,431  
Margin

 $
262

  $
187

  $
711

  $
627

 
Totals :             

Revenues  $ 14,130   $ 13,280   $ 41,496   $ 38,674  
Expenses   5,789    5,446    17,018    16,046  
Margin  $ 8,341   $ 7,834   $ 24,478   $ 22,628  

 

(1)The margins reported reflect only the direct controllable costs of each line of business and do not include allocations of research and development, general and administrative and certain other allocable expenses, net. 
Additionally, the margins reported above do not reflect amortization of intangible assets, acquisition related and other expenses, restructuring expenses, stock-based compensation, interest expense or certain other non-
operating (expenses) income, net. Refer to the table below for a reconciliation of our total margin for operating segments to our income before income taxes as reported per our condensed consolidated statements of 
operations.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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The fol lowing table reconci les  total  margin for operating segments  to income before income taxes:
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  

Total  margin for operating segments  $ 8,341   $ 7,834   $ 24,478   $ 22,628  
Research and development   (2,429 )   (2,248 )   (7,206 )   (6,689 )
General  and administrative   (390 )   (377 )   (1,135 )   (1,146 )
Amortization of intangible assets   (548 )   (749 )   (1,763 )   (2,267 )
Acquis i tion related and other   (28 )   (155 )   (72 )   (214 )
Restructuring   (63 )   (90 )   (220 )   (311 )
Stock-based compensation for operating segments   (422 )   (368 )   (1,186 )   (1,014 )
Expense al locations  and other, net   (103 )   (97 )   (327 )   (320 )
Interest expense   (892 )   (876 )   (2,600 )   (2,636 )
Non-operating (expenses) income, net   (18 )   (9 )   39    (72 )

Income before income taxes  $ 3,448   $ 2,865   $ 10,008   $ 7,959  

Disaggregation of Revenues

We have cons idered information that i s  regularly reviewed by our CODMs in evaluating financial  performance and disclosures  presented outs ide of our 
financial  s tatements  in our earnings  releases  and used in investor presentations  to disaggregate revenues to depict how the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenues and cash flows are affected by economic factors . The principal  category we use to disaggregate revenues is  the nature of our products  
and services  as  presented in our condensed consol idated statements  of operations. 

The fol lowing table is  a  summary of our total  revenues by geographic region:
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Americas  $ 9,000   $ 8,270   $ 26,305   $ 24,177  
EMEA   3,421    3,316    10,029    9,491  
As ia  Paci fic   1,709    1,694    5,162    5,006  

Total  revenues  $ 14,130   $ 13,280   $ 41,496   $ 38,674  
 

(1)Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa

The fol lowing table presents  our cloud services  and l icense support revenues by offerings:
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Cloud services  $ 6,210   $ 5,054   $ 17,769   $ 14,464  
License support   4,797    4,909    14,562    14,685  

Total  cloud services  and l icense support revenues  $ 11,007   $ 9,963   $ 32,331   $ 29,149  
 

(1)
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The fol lowing table presents  our cloud services  and l icense support revenues by appl ications  and infrastructure ecosystems:
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Appl ications  cloud services  and l icense support  $ 4,811   $ 4,584   $ 14,363   $ 13,529  
Infrastructure cloud services  and l icense support   6,196    5,379    17,968    15,620  

Total  cloud services  and l icense support revenues  $ 11,007   $ 9,963   $ 32,331   $ 29,149  
 

9.EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings  per share is  computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares  outstanding during the period. 
Di luted earnings  per share is  computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares  outstanding during the period, 
plus  the di lutive effect of outstanding restricted stock-based awards, s tock options  and shares  issuable under the employee stock purchase plan as  appl icable 
pursuant to the treasury stock method. The fol lowing table sets  forth the computation of bas ic and di luted earnings  per share:
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions, except per share data)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Net income  $ 2,936   $ 2,401   $ 9,016   $ 7,323  
Weighted-average common shares  outstanding   2,799    2,748    2,783    2,741  
Di lutive effect of employee stock plans   75    71    82    79  
Di lutive weighted-average common shares  outstanding   2,874    2,819    2,865    2,820  
Bas ic earnings  per share  $ 1.05   $ 0.87   $ 3.24   $ 2.67  
Di luted earnings  per share  $ 1.02   $ 0.85   $ 3.15   $ 2.60  
Anti -di lutive stock awards  excluded from calculation   22    27    23    27  
 

(1)These stock awards primarily relate to contingently issuable shares pursuant to performance stock option arrangements. Such shares could be dilutive in the future.

10.LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Derivative Litigation Concerning Oracle’s NetSuite Acquisition

On May 3 and July 18, 2017, two al leged stockholders  fi led separate derivative lawsuits  in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, purportedly on 
Oracle’s  behal f. Thereafter, the court consol idated the two derivative cases  and des ignated the July 18, 2017 complaint as  the operative complaint. The 
consol idated lawsuit was  brought against a l l  the then-current members  and one former member of our Board of Directors , and Oracle as  a  nominal  defendant. 
Pla inti ffs  a l leged that the defendants  breached their fiduciary duties  by caus ing Oracle to agree to purchase NetSuite Inc. at an excess ive price. The complaint, 
which was amended several  times, sought declaratory rel ief, unspeci fied monetary damages (including interest) and attorneys’ fees  and costs .

After various  proceedings, the case proceeded to tria l  on July 18, 2022, and on May 12, 2023, the court i ssued i ts  tria l  rul ing, rejecting pla inti ffs ’ cla ims and 
finding for the two remaining defendants: our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Technology Officer. Pla inti ffs  appealed, and on January 21, 2025, the 
Supreme Court of Delaware, s i tting en banc, affi rmed the tria l  court’s  opinion in favor of defendants . This  matter i s  now concluded.

(1)
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Netherlands Privacy Class Action

On August 14, 2020, The Privacy Col lective (TPC), a  foundation having i ts  registered office in Amsterdam, fi led a  purported class  action lawsuit against Oracle 
Nederland B.V, Oracle Corporation and Oracle America, Inc. (the Oracle Defendants), Salesforce.com, Inc. and SFDC Netherlands  B.V. in the District Court of 
Amsterdam. TPC al leges  that the Oracle Defendants ’ Data Management Platform product violates  certain articles  of the EU Charter of Fundamental  Rights , the 
General  Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Dutch Telecommunications  Act (Telecommunicatiewet). TPC cla ims damages under a  number of categories , 
including: “immateria l  damages” (at a  fixed amount of €500 per Dutch internet user); “materia l  damages” (in that the costs  of loss  of control  over personal  data 
should be equated to the market value of the personal  data for parties  l ike the Oracle Defendants); compensation for losses  suffered due to an al leged data 
breach (at a  fixed amount of €100 per Dutch internet user); and compensation for the costs  of the l i tigation funder (10% to 25% of the compensation awarded); 
and the (actual ) cost of the proceedings  and extrajudicia l  costs .

We fi led our defense on March 3, 2021, and on December 29, 2021, the District Court i ssued a judgment, holding that a l l  of TPC’s  cla ims were deemed 
inadmiss ible because of fundamental  procedural  flaws. TPC fi led an appeal  with the Court of Appeal  in Amsterdam chal lenging the District Court’s  judgment, 
except for the cla ims regarding the al leged data breach, which were dropped. On June 18, 2024, the Court of Appeal  overturned the District Court’s  decis ion 
regarding admiss ibi l i ty, thus  permitting the case to proceed. We requested that the Court of Appeal  permit an interim appeal  to the Dutch Supreme Court and/or 
the European Court of Justice. On September 24, 2024, the Court of Appeal  i ssued a judgment confi rming that TPC’s  cla ims are admiss ible and referred the 
matter back to the District Court of Amsterdam for a  decis ion on the merits  of TPC’s  cla ims, including TPC’s  cla ims for damages under article 82 of the GDPR. The 
Court of Appeal  a lso granted Oracle’s  request for an interim appeal  to the Supreme Court, appeal ing the June 18 and the September 24, 2024, judgments .

Oracle fi led i ts  statement of appeal  with the Dutch Supreme Court on December 20, 2024, and TPC appeared in the proceedings  on January 31, 2025. The fi l ing of 
the Supreme Court appeal  effectively suspended proceedings  before the District Court pursuant to appl icable procedural  rules . TPC fi led i ts  statement of defense 
in response to our Supreme Court appeal  and a counter appeal  on February 27, 2025. The appeal  has  been stayed unti l  March 28, 2025 to a l low Oracle to 
submit a  statement of defense to the counter appeal .

We bel ieve that we have meritorious  defenses  against this  action, including defenses  to the quantum of damages cla imed, and we wi l l  continue to vigorous ly 
defend i t.

Whi le the final  outcome of this  matter cannot be predicted with certainty and we cannot estimate a range of loss  at this  time, we do not bel ieve that i t wi l l  have 
a materia l  impact on our financial  pos ition or results  of operations.

Other Litigation

We are party to various  other legal  proceedings  and cla ims, ei ther asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of bus iness , including 
proceedings  and cla ims that relate to acquis i tions  we have completed or to companies  we have acquired or are attempting to acquire. Whi le the outcome of 
these matters  cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not bel ieve that the outcome of any of these matters , individual ly or in the aggregate, wi l l  result in 
losses  that are materia l ly in excess  of amounts  a lready recognized, i f any.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We begin Management’s  Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of Operations  with an overview of our bus inesses  and s igni ficant trends. 
This  overview is  fol lowed by a  summary of our cri tical  accounting estimates  that we bel ieve are important to understanding s igni ficant assumptions  and 
judgments  incorporated in our reported financial  results . We then provide a more detai led analys is  of our results  of operations  and financial  condition.

Business Overview

Oracle provides  products  and services  that address  enterprise information technology (IT) needs. Our products  and services  include enterprise appl ications  
and infrastructure offerings  that are del ivered worldwide through a variety of flexible and interoperable IT deployment models . These models  include on-
premise, cloud-based and hybrid deployments  (an approach that combines  both on-premise and cloud-based deployments). Accordingly, we offer choice and 
flexibi l i ty to our customers  and faci l i tate the product, service and deployment combinations  that best suit our customers’ needs. Through our worldwide sales  
force and Oracle Partner Network, we sel l  to customers  a l l  over the world including bus inesses  of many s izes , government agencies , educational  insti tutions  
and resel lers .

We have three bus inesses: cloud and l icense; hardware; and services; each of which comprises  a  s ingle operating segment. The descriptions  set forth below as  a  
part of this  Item 2 Management’s  Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of Operations  and the information contained within Note 8 of 
Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Quarterly Report provide additional  information related to our bus inesses  
and operating segments  and al ign to how our chief operating decis ion makers  (CODMs), which are our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technology Officer, view 
our operating results  and al locate resources.

Cloud and License Business 

Our cloud and l icense bus iness , which represented 85% of our total  revenues on a trai l ing 4-quarter bas is , markets , sel ls  and del ivers  a  broad spectrum of 
enterprise appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  through our cloud and l icense offerings . Revenue streams included in our cloud and l icense bus iness  
are:

•Cloud services  and l icense support revenues, which include:

ocloud services  revenues, which are earned by providing customers  access  to Oracle Cloud appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  via  cloud-
based deployment models  that Oracle develops, provides  unspeci fied updates  and enhancements  for, deploys , hosts , manages  and supports  and that 
customers  access  by entering into a  subscription agreement with us  for a  stated period. Oracle Cloud Appl ications  and Oracle Cloud Infrastructure 
(col lectively Oracle Cloud Services) arrangements  general ly: are bi l led in advance of the cloud services  being del ivered; have durations  of one to four 
years ; are renewed at the customer’s  option; and are recognized as  revenues ratably over the contractual  period of the cloud contract or, in the case 
of usage model  contracts , as  the cloud services  are consumed over time; and

ol i cense support revenues, which are earned by providing Oracle l icense support services  to customers  that have elected to purchase support 
services  in connection with the purchase of Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure software l icenses  for use in cloud, on-premise and other IT 
environments . Substantia l ly a l l  l i cense support customers  renew their support contracts  with us  upon expiration in order to continue to benefi t from 
technical  support services  and the periodic i ssuance of unspeci fied updates  and enhancements , which current l icense support customers  are enti tled 
to receive. License support contracts  are general ly: priced as  a  percentage of the net fees  paid by the customer to purchase a cloud l icense and/or on-
premise l icense; bi l led in advance of the support services  being performed; renewed at the customer’s  option; and recognized as  revenues ratably 
over the contractual  period that the support services  are provided, which is  general ly one year.

•Cloud l icense and on-premise l icense revenues, which include revenues from the l icens ing of our software products  including Oracle Appl ications, 
Oracle Database, Oracle Middleware and Java, among others , which our customers  deploy within cloud-based, on-premise or other IT environments . Our 
cloud l icense and on-premise l icense transactions  are general ly perpetual  in nature and are general ly recognized as  revenues up front at the point in 
time when the software is  made avai lable to the customer to download and use. Revenues from usage-based royalty arrangements  for distinct cloud 
l icenses  and on-premise l icenses  are 
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recognized at the point in time when the software end user usage occurs . The timing of a  few large l icense transactions  can substantia l ly affect our 
quarterly l icense revenues due to the point-in-time nature of revenue recognition for l icense transactions, which is  di fferent than the typical  revenue 
recognition pattern for our cloud services  and l icense support revenues in which revenues are recognized over time. Cloud l icense and on-premise 
l icense customers  have the option to purchase and renew l icense support contracts , as  further described above.

Providing choice and flexibi l i ty to our customers  as  to when and how they deploy Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  are important elements  
of our corporate strategy. In recent periods, customer demand for our appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  del ivered through our Oracle Cloud Services  
has  increased. To address  customer demand and enable customer choice, we have certain programs for customers  to pivot their appl ications  and infrastructure 
software l icenses  and the related l icense support to the Oracle Cloud for new deployments  and to migrate to and expand with the Oracle Cloud for their existing 
workloads. The proportion of our cloud services  revenues relative to our total  revenues has  increased and we expect this  trend to continue. Cloud services  
revenues represented 44% and 43% of our total  revenues for the three- and nine-month periods  ended February 28, 2025, respectively, and 38% and 37% of our 
total  revenues for the three- and nine-month periods  ended February 29, 2024, respectively.

Our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ revenue growth is  affected by many factors , including the strength of general  economic and bus iness  conditions; governmental  
budgetary constraints ; the strategy for and competitive pos ition of our offerings; customer satis faction with our offerings; the continued renewal  of our cloud 
services  and l icense support customer contracts  by the customer contract base; substantia l ly a l l  customers  continuing to purchase l icense support contracts  in 
connection with their l icense purchases; the pricing of l icense support contracts  sold in connection with the sales  of l icenses; the pricing, amounts  and volumes 
of l icenses  and cloud services  sold; our abi l i ty to manage Oracle Cloud capacity requirements  to meet existing and prospective customer demand; and foreign 
currency rate fluctuations.

On a constant currency bas is , we expect that our total  cloud and l icense revenues general ly wi l l  continue to increase due to:

•expected growth in our cloud services  offerings; and

•continued demand for our cloud l icense and on-premise l icense and l icense support offerings .

We bel ieve these factors  should contribute to future growth in our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ total  revenues, which should enable us  to continue to make 
investments  in research and development and our cloud operations  to develop, improve, increase the capacity of and expand the geographic footprint of our 
cloud and l icense products  and services .

Our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ margin has  historical ly trended upward over the course of the four quarters  within a  particular fi scal  year due to the historical  
upward trend of our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ revenues over those quarterly periods  and because the majori ty of our costs  for this  bus iness  are general ly 
fixed in the short term. The historical  upward trend of our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ revenues over the course of the four quarters  within a  particular fi scal  
year is  primari ly due to the addition of new cloud services  and l icense support contracts  to the customer contract base, which we general ly recognize as  
revenues ratably or based upon customer usage over the respective contractual  terms and the renewal  of existing customers’ cloud services  and l icense support 
contracts  over the course of each fiscal  year, which we general ly recognize as  revenues in a  s imi lar manner; and the historical  upward trend of our cloud 
l icense and on-premise l icense revenues, which we general ly recognize at a  point in time upon del ivery; in each case over those four fiscal  quarterly periods.

Hardware Business 

Our hardware bus iness , which represented 5% of our total  revenues on a trai l ing 4-quarter bas is , provides  a  broad selection of enterprise hardware products  
and hardware-related software products  including Oracle Engineered Systems, servers , s torage, industry-speci fic hardware offerings , operating systems, 
vi rtual ization, management and other hardware-related software and related hardware support. Each hardware product and i ts  related software, such as  an 
operating system or fi rmware, are highly interdependent and interrelated and are accounted for as  a  combined performance obl igation. The revenues for this  
combined performance obl igation are general ly recognized 
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at the point in time that the hardware product and i ts  related software are del ivered to the customer and ownership is  transferred to the customer. We expect to 
continue to make investments  in research and development to improve existing hardware products  and services  and to develop new hardware products  and 
services . The majori ty of our hardware products  are sold through indirect channels , including independent distributors  and value-added resel lers . Our 
hardware support offerings  provide customers  with unspeci fied software updates  for software components  that are essentia l  to the functional i ty of our 
hardware products  and associated software products . Our hardware support offerings  can also include product repairs , maintenance services  and technical  
support services . Hardware support contracts  are entered into and renewed at the option of the customer, are general ly priced as  a  percentage of the net 
hardware products  fees  and are general ly recognized as  revenues ratably as  the hardware support services  are del ivered over the contractual  terms.

We general ly expect our hardware bus iness  to have lower operating margins  as  a  percentage of revenues than our cloud and l icense bus iness  due to the 
incremental  costs  we incur to produce and distribute these products  and to provide support services , including direct materia ls  and labor costs . 

Our quarterly hardware revenues are di fficult to predict. Our hardware revenues, cost of hardware and hardware operating margins  that we report are affected 
by many factors , including our manufacturing partners ’ abi l i ties  to timely manufacture or del iver a  few large hardware transactions; our strategy for and the 
pos ition of our hardware products  relative to competitor offerings; customer demand for competing offerings , including cloud infrastructure offerings; the 
strength of general  economic and bus iness  conditions; governmental  budgetary constraints ; whether customers  decide to purchase hardware support contracts  
at or in close proximity to the time of hardware product sale; the percentage of our hardware support contract customer base that renews i ts  support contracts ; 
the close association between hardware products , which have a fini te l i fe, and customer demand for related hardware support as  hardware products  age; 
customer decis ions  to ei ther maintain or upgrade their existing hardware infrastructure to newly developed technologies  that are avai lable; and foreign 
currency rate fluctuations.

Services Business 

Our services  bus iness , which represented 10% of our total  revenues on a trai l ing 4-quarter bas is , helps  customers  and partners  maximize the performance of 
their investments  in Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies . We bel ieve that our services  are di fferentiated based on our focus  on Oracle 
technologies , extens ive experience, broad sets  of intel lectual  property and best practices . Our services  offerings  include consulting services  and advanced 
customer services . Our services  bus iness  has  lower margins  than our cloud and l icense and hardware bus inesses. Our services  revenues are affected by many 
factors  including our strategy for, and the competitive pos ition of, our services; customer demand for our cloud and l icense and hardware offerings  and the 
related services  that we may market and sel l  in connection with these offerings; general  economic conditions; governmental  budgetary constraints ; personnel  
reductions  in our customers’ IT departments; tighter controls  over customer discretionary spending; and foreign currency rate fluctuations. 

Acquisitions

Our selective and active acquis i tion program is  another important element of our corporate strategy. Historical ly, we have invested bi l l ions  of dol lars  to 
acquire a  number of complementary companies , products , services  and technologies . As  compel l ing opportunities  become avai lable, we may acquire 
companies , products , services  and technologies  in furtherance of our corporate strategy.

We bel ieve that we can fund our future acquis i tions  with our internal ly avai lable cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  balances, cash generated 
from operations, additional  borrowings  or from the issuance of additional  securi ties . We estimate the financial  impact of any potentia l  acquis i tion with regard 
to earnings , operating margin, cash flows and return on invested capital  targets , among others , before deciding to move forward with an acquis i tion.
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Investment in Ampere Computing Holdings LLC

From time to time s ince 2017, we have made investments  in Ampere Computing Holdings  LLC (Ampere), a  related party enti ty, in the form of equity and 
convertible debt instruments . The total  carrying value of our investments  in Ampere, after accounting for losses  under the equity method of accounting, was  $1.5 
bi l l ion as  of February 28, 2025. We currently expect Ampere to continue to generate net losses  in future periods, but we remain confident in the long-term 
potentia l  of Ampere’s  server chips .

Our equity investments  in Ampere represent an ownership interest of approximately 29% as  of February 28, 2025. We also own convertible debt investments  in 
Ampere which, under the terms of an agreement with Ampere and other co-investors , wi l l  mature in June 2026 and are convertible into equity securi ties  at the 
holder’s  option under certain ci rcumstances. During the nine months  ended February 28, 2025, we invested an aggregate of $225 mi l l ion in convertible debt 
instruments  issued by Ampere. In accordance with the terms of an agreement with other co-investors , we are a lso a  counterparty to certain put (exercisable by a  
co-investor) and cal l  (exercisable by Oracle) options  at prices  of approximately $450 mi l l ion to $1.5 bi l l ion, respectively, to acquire additional  equity interests  
in Ampere from our co-investors  through January 2027. If ei ther of such options  is  exercised by us  or our co-investors , we would obtain control  of Ampere and 
consol idate i ts  results  with our results  of operations.

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Our consol idated financial  s tatements  are prepared in accordance with United States  (U.S.) general ly accepted accounting principles  (GAAP), which requires  us  
to make certain estimates, judgments  and assumptions  that can affect the reported amounts  of assets , l iabi l i ties , revenues, expenses, and related disclosures. 
Cri tical  accounting estimates  are those estimates  that involve a  s igni ficant level  of estimation uncertainty and have had, or are reasonably l ikely to have, a  
materia l  impact on our financial  condition or results  of operations. We bel ieve that the estimates, judgments  and assumptions  upon which we rely are 
reasonable based upon information avai lable to us  at the time that these estimates, judgments  and assumptions  are made. To the extent that there are 
di fferences  between these estimates, judgments  or assumptions  and actual  results , our financial  s tatements  wi l l  be affected. We have cri tical  accounting 
estimates  in the areas  of bus iness  combinations, income taxes  and non-marketable investments .

During the fi rst quarter of fi scal  2025, we completed an assessment of the useful  l ives  of our servers  and increased the estimated useful  l ives  from five years  to 
s ix years , effective at the beginning of fi scal  2025. Refer to Note 1 of Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Quarterly 
Report for more information. There were no other s igni ficant changes  to our cri tical  accounting estimates. Refer to “Cri tical  Accounting Estimates” under 
Management’s  Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of Operations  contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024 for a  more complete discuss ion of our cri tical  accounting estimates.

Results of Operations

Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information 

In our results  of operations  discuss ion below, we provide an overview of our total  consol idated revenues, total  consol idated operating expenses  and total  
consol idated operating margin, a l l  of which are presented on a GAAP bas is . We also present a  GAAP-based discuss ion below for substantia l ly a l l  of the other 
expense i tems as  presented in our condensed consol idated statements  of operations  that are not directly attributable to our three bus inesses.

In addition, we discuss  below the results  of each of our three bus inesses—cloud and l icense, hardware and services—which are our operating segments  as  
defined pursuant to ASC 280, Segment Reporting. The financial  reporting for our three bus inesses  that i s  presented below is  presented in a  manner that i s  
cons istent with that used by our CODMs. Our operating segment presentation below reflects  revenues, direct costs  and sales  and marketing expenses  that 
correspond to and are directly attributable to each of our three bus inesses. We also uti l i ze these inputs  to calculate and present a  segment margin for each of 
our three bus inesses  in the discuss ion below.

Consistent with our internal  management reporting processes , research and development expenses, general  and administrative expenses, s tock-based 
compensation expenses, amortization of intangible assets , certain other expense al locations, acquis i tion related and other expenses, restructuring expenses, 
interest expense, 
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non-operating (expenses) income, net and provis ion for income taxes  are not attributed to our three operating segments  because our management does  not view 
the performance of our three bus inesses  including such i tems and/or i t i s  impracticable to do so. Refer to “Supplemental  Disclosure Related to Certain Charges” 
below for additional  discuss ion of certain of these i tems and Note 8 of Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  
Quarterly Report for a  reconci l iation of the summations  of total  segment margin as  presented in the discuss ion below to total  income before income taxes  as  
presented per our condensed consol idated statements  of operations  for a l l  periods  presented.

Constant Currency Presentation

Our international  operations  have provided, and are expected to continue to provide, a  s igni ficant portion of each of our bus inesses ’ revenues and expenses. As  
a  result, each of our bus inesses ’ revenues and expenses  and our total  revenues and expenses  wi l l  continue to be affected by changes  in the U.S. Dol lar against 
major international  currencies . In order to provide a framework for assess ing how our underlying bus inesses  performed, excluding the effects  of foreign 
currency rate fluctuations, we compare the percent change in the results  from one period to another period in this  Quarterly Report us ing constant currency. To 
present this  information, current and comparative prior period results  for enti ties  reporting in currencies  other than U.S. Dol lars  are converted into U.S. Dol lars  
at constant exchange rates  (i .e., the rates  in effect on May 31, 2024, which was the last day of our prior fi scal  year) rather than the actual  exchange rates  in 
effect during the respective periods. For example, i f an enti ty reporting in Euros  had revenues of 1.0 mi l l ion Euros  from products  sold on February 28, 2025 and 
February 29, 2024, our financial  s tatements  would reflect reported revenues of $1.05 mi l l ion in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 (us ing 1.05 as  the 
appl icable average exchange rate for the period) and $1.08 mi l l ion in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2024 (us ing 1.08 as  the appl icable average exchange rate 
for the period). The constant currency presentation, however, would trans late the results  for each of the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 and 2024 us ing the May 
31, 2024 exchange rate and indicate, in this  example, no change in revenues between the periods  compared. In each of the tables  below, we present the percent 
change based on actual , unrounded results  in reported currency and in constant currency.

Total Revenues and Operating Expenses
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  

(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Total Revenues by Geography:                     
Americas  $ 9,000   9%  10%  $ 8,270   $ 26,305   9%  10%  $ 24,177  
EMEA   3,421   3%  6%   3,316    10,029   6%  6%   9,491  
Asia Pacific   1,709   1%  5%   1,694    5,162   3%  5%   5,006  

Total revenues   14,130   6%  8%   13,280    41,496   7%  8%   38,674  
Total Operating Expenses   9,772   3%  4%   9,530    28,927   3%  4%   28,007  
Total Operating Margin  $ 4,358   16%  20%  $ 3,750   $ 12,569   18%  19%  $ 10,667  
Total Operating Margin %  31%       28%   30%       28%  
% Revenues by Geography:                     
Americas  64%       62%   63%       62%  
EMEA  24%       25%   24%       25%  
Asia Pacific  12%       13%   13%       13%  
Total Revenues by Business:                     
Cloud and license  $ 12,136   8%  10%  $ 11,219   $ 35,525   10%  11%  $ 32,392  
Hardware   703   -7%  -5%   754    2,086   -6%  -5%   2,224  
Services   1,291   -1%  1%   1,307    3,885   -4%  -3%   4,058  

Total revenues  $ 14,130   6%  8%  $ 13,280   $ 41,496   7%  8%  $ 38,674  
% Revenues by Business:                     
Cloud and license  86%       84%   86%       83%  
Hardware  5%       6%   5%       6%  
Services  9%       10%   9%       11%  
 

(1)Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa

(1)
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Total  revenues increased by $850 mi l l ion and $2.8 bi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively, 
relative to the corresponding prior year periods, due to a  $917 mi l l ion and a $3.1 bi l l ion increase in cloud and l icense revenues, partia l ly offset by a  $51 
mi l l ion and a $138 mi l l ion decrease in hardware revenues and a $16 mi l l ion and a $173 mi l l ion decrease in services  revenues, in each case during the third 
quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. Excluding the unfavorable effects  of foreign 
currency rate fluctuations  of 2% in the third quarter of fi scal  2025 and 1% in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, the increase in our cloud and l icense bus iness  
revenues was primari ly due to growth in our cloud services  revenues as  customers  purchased our appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  and also 
renewed their related cloud contracts  to continue to gain access  to the latest vers ions  of our technologies . In constant currency, appl ications  cloud services  and 
l icense support contributed 23% and 26% and infrastructure cloud services  and l icense support contributed 77% and 74% of the growth in cloud services  and 
l icense support revenues, in each case in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively. In our hardware bus iness , the constant 
currency decrease in revenues in the fiscal  2025 periods  presented was due to the emphasis  we placed on the marketing and sale of our growing cloud-based 
infrastructure technologies . In our services  bus iness , the constant currency increase in revenues in the third quarter of fi scal  2025 was attributable to an 
increase in our consulting services  revenues, partia l ly offset by a  decrease in our advanced customer services  revenues, whi le the constant currency decrease in 
services  bus iness  revenues in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 was attributable to a  decrease in revenues from each of our primary services  offerings . The 
Americas  region contributed 75% and 74% and the As ia  Paci fic region contributed 7% and 8% to the constant currency total  revenue growth during the third 
quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively, and the EMEA region contributed 18% to the constant currency total  revenue growth during each of 
the fiscal  2025 periods  presented.

Total  GAAP operating expenses  increased by $242 mi l l ion and $920 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, 
respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. The increase in GAAP operating expenses  in reported currency was primari ly due to a  $430 mi l l ion 
and a $1.3 bi l l ion increase in cloud services  and l icense support expenses  primari ly due to higher infrastructure expenses  and higher employee related 
expenses, including higher expenses  relating to stock-based compensation, that were incurred to support the growth in our cloud services  revenues; a  $181 
mi l l ion and a $517 mi l l ion increase in research and development expenses  primari ly due to higher employee related expenses, including higher stock-based 
compensation expenses; and a $77 mi l l ion and a $184 mi l l ion increase in sales  and marketing expenses, in each case during the third quarter and the fi rst nine 
months  of fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. These increases  in GAAP operating expenses  in reported currency were 
partia l ly offset by a  $201 mi l l ion and a $504 mi l l ion decrease in expenses  for the amortization of intangible assets  as  certain of our assets  were ful ly 
amortized; a  $127 mi l l ion and a $142 mi l l ion decrease in acquis i tion related and other expenses  primari ly due to lower impairment charges  on certain assets ; 
an $84 mi l l ion and a $235 mi l l ion decrease in services  expenses  primari ly due to decreases  in external  contractor and employee related expenses; a  $20 
mi l l ion and a $119 mi l l ion decrease in hardware expenses  due to lower hardware product and support costs ; and a $27 mi l l ion and a $91 mi l l ion decrease in 
restructuring expenses, in each case during the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year 
periods.

In constant currency, our total  operating margin and total  operating margin as  a  percentage of revenues increased in the fiscal  2025 periods  presented, relative 
to the corresponding prior year periods, due to higher revenues.

Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges

To supplement our condensed consol idated financial  information, we bel ieve that the fol lowing information is  helpful  to an overal l  understanding of our past 
financial  performance and prospects  for the future.
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Our operating results  reported pursuant to GAAP included the fol lowing bus iness  combination accounting adjustments  and expenses  related to acquis i tions  
and certain other expenses, including stock-based compensation, that affected our GAAP net income:
 

  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(in millions)  
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
Amortization of intangible assets  $ 548   $ 749   $ 1,763   $ 2,267  
Acquis i tion related and other   28    155    72    214  
Restructuring   63    90    220    311  
Stock-based compensation, operating segments   422    368    1,186    1,014  
Stock-based compensation, R&D and G&A   776    680    2,188    1,913  
Income tax effects   (542 )   (461 )   (2,042 )   (1,939 )
  $ 1,295   $ 1,581   $ 3,387   $ 3,780  
 

(1)Represents the amortization of intangible assets, all of which were acquired in connection with our acquisitions. As of February 28, 2025, estimated future amortization related to intangible assets was as follows (in 
millions):
 
 Remainder of fiscal 2025  $ 544  
 Fiscal 2026   1,639  
 Fiscal 2027   672  
 Fiscal 2028   635  
 Fiscal 2029   561  
 Fiscal 2030   522  
 Thereafter   558  
 Total intangible assets, net  $ 5,131  
 

(2)Acquisition related and other expenses consist of personnel related costs for transitional and certain other employees, certain business combination adjustments including certain adjustments after the measurement period 
has ended and certain other operating items, net.
(3)Restructuring expenses in each of the fiscal 2025 and 2024 periods presented primarily related to employee severance in connection with the Fiscal 2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan (2024 Restructuring Plan). Additional 
information regarding certain of our restructuring plans is provided in management’s discussion below under “Restructuring Expenses,” in Note 4 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere 
in this Quarterly Report and in Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2024.
(4)Stock-based compensation was included in the following operating expense line items of our condensed consolidated statements of operations (in millions): 
 

   Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024   
February 28,

2025   
February 29,

2024  
 Cloud services and license support  $ 160   $ 138   $ 459   $ 386  
 Hardware   8    6    21    17  
 Services   54    45    150    123  
 Sales and marketing   200    179    556    488  
 Stock-based compensation, operating segments   422    368    1,186    1,014  
 Research and development   675    584    1,902    1,642  
 General and administrative   101    96    286    271  
 Total stock-based compensation  $ 1,198   $ 1,048   $ 3,374   $ 2,927  
 

(5)For all periods presented, the applicable jurisdictional tax rates applied to our income before income taxes after excluding the tax effects of items within the table above such as for stock-based compensation, amortization 
of intangible assets, restructuring, and certain acquisition related and other items, and after excluding the net deferred tax effects associated with a previously recorded income tax benefit that resulted from a partial 
realignment of our legal entity structure. These adjustments resulted in effective tax rates of 19.9% and 19.7%, instead of 14.9% and 9.9%, respectively, for the third quarter and the first nine months of fiscal 2025 and 18.9% 
and 18.8%, instead of 16.2% and 8.0%, respectively, for the third quarter and the first nine months of fiscal 2024, which in each case represented our effective tax rates as derived per our condensed consolidated statements 
of operations.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(4)

(5)
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Cloud and License Business

Our cloud and l icense bus iness  engages  in the sale and marketing of our appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  that are del ivered through various  
deployment models  and include: Oracle Cloud Services  offerings; Oracle cloud l icense and on-premise l icense offerings; and Oracle l icense support offerings . 
Our cloud services  del iver appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  on a subscription bas is  via  cloud-based deployment models  that we develop, provide 
unspeci fied updates  and enhancements  for, deploy, host, manage and support. Revenues for our cloud services  are general ly recognized ratably over the 
contractual  term, which is  general ly one to four years , or in the case of usage model  contracts , as  the cloud services  are consumed. Cloud l icense and on-
premise l icense revenues represent fees  earned from granting customers  l icenses, general ly on a perpetual  bas is , to use our database and middleware and our 
appl ications  software products  within cloud and on-premise IT environments  and are general ly recognized up front at the point in time when the software is  
made avai lable to the customer to download and use. License support revenues are typical ly generated through the sale of appl ications  and infrastructure 
software l icense support contracts  related to cloud l icenses  and on-premise l icenses; are purchased by our customers  at their option; and are general ly 
recognized as  revenues ratably over the contractual  term, which is  general ly one year. We continue to place s igni ficant emphasis , both domestical ly and 
international ly, on direct sales  through our own sales  force. We also continue to market certain of our offerings  through indirect channels . Costs  associated 
with our cloud and l icense bus iness  are included in cloud services  and l icense support expenses  and sales  and marketing expenses. These costs  are largely 
personnel  and infrastructure related and include the cost of providing our cloud services  and l icense support offerings , sa laries  and commiss ions  earned by 
our sales  force for the sale of our cloud and l icense offerings  and marketing program costs .
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Cloud and License Revenues:                     
Americas  $ 7,862   11%  12%  $ 7,102   $ 22,951   12%  13%  $ 20,537  
EMEA   2,877   5%  8%   2,738    8,378   7%  8%   7,815  
Asia Pacific   1,397   1%  5%   1,379    4,196   4%  6%   4,040  

Total revenues   12,136   8%  10%   11,219    35,525   10%  11%   32,392  
Expenses:                     
Cloud services and license support   2,690   18%  19%   2,288    7,667   19%  20%   6,433  
Sales and marketing   1,817   3%  5%   1,758    5,477   3%  4%   5,339  

Total expenses   4,507   11%  13%   4,046    13,144   12%  12%   11,772  
Total Margin  $ 7,629   6%  8%  $ 7,173   $ 22,381   9%  9%  $ 20,620  
Total Margin %  63%       64%   63%       64%  
% Revenues by Geography:                     
Americas  65%       63%   65%       63%  
EMEA  24%       25%   23%       24%  
Asia Pacific  11%       12%   12%       13%  
Revenues by Offerings:                     
Cloud services  $ 6,210   23%  25%  $ 5,054   $ 17,769   23%  24%  $ 14,464  
License support   4,797   -2%  0%   4,909    14,562   -1%  0%   14,685  
Cloud license and on-premise license   1,129   -10%  -8%   1,256    3,194   -2%  0%   3,243  

Total revenues  $ 12,136   8%  10%  $ 11,219   $ 35,525   10%  11%  $ 32,392  
Cloud Services and License Support Revenues by Ecosystem:                     
Applications cloud services and license support

 $ 4,811   
5%

 
6%

 $ 4,584   $ 14,363   
6%

 
7%

 $ 13,529  
Infrastructure cloud services and license support   6,196   15%  18%   5,379    17,968   15%  16%   15,620  

Total cloud services and license support revenues  $ 11,007   10%  12%  $ 9,963   $ 32,331   11%  12%  $ 29,149  
 

(1)Excludes stock-based compensation and certain expense allocations. Also excludes amortization of intangible assets and certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment results for 
purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ total  revenues increased by $917 mi l l ion and $3.1 bi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of 
fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, primari ly due to a  $1.2 bi l l ion and a $3.3 bi l l ion increase in cloud services  revenues 
as  customers  purchased our appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  and renewed their related cloud contracts  to continue to gain access  to the latest 
vers ions  of our technologies  for which we del ivered such cloud services  during the periods  presented. The increase in cloud services  revenues in the third 
quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 was partia l ly offset by a  $239 mi l l ion and a $172 mi l l ion total  decrease, respectively, in cloud l icense and on-
premise l icense and l icense support revenues, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. In constant currency, appl ications  cloud services  and l icense 
support contributed 23% and 26% and infrastructure cloud services  and l icense support contributed 77% and 74% of the growth in cloud services  and l icense 
support revenues in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively. The Americas  region contributed 74% and 76%, the EMEA region 
contributed 20% and 17% and the As ia  Paci fic region contributed 6% and 7% to the constant currency revenue growth for this  bus iness  during the third quarter 
and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively.

Total  cloud and l icense bus iness ’ expenses  increased by $461 mi l l ion and $1.4 bi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of 
fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. Excluding the favorable effects  of currency rate fluctuations  of 2% in the third quarter 
of fi scal  2025 and less  than 1% in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, the constant currency increase in expenses  was  primari ly due to a  $399 mi l l ion and a 
$961 mi l l ion increase in infrastructure expenses, an $81 mi l l ion and a $265 mi l l ion increase in employee related expenses  for employees  engaged in cloud 
services  del ivery and a $96 mi l l ion and a $187 mi l l ion increase in sales  and marketing expenses, in each case in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of 
fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, to support the increase in our cloud services  revenues. Our cloud services  and l icense 
support expenses  have grown in recent periods, and we expect this  trend to continue during fiscal  2025 as  we increase our existing data center capacity and 
establ ish data centers  in new geographic locations  in order to meet current and expected customer demand.

Excluding the effects  of currency rate fluctuations, our cloud and l icense bus iness ’ total  margin increased in the fiscal  2025 periods  presented, relative to the 
corresponding prior year periods, due to increases  in total  revenues for this  bus iness . Total  margin as  a  percentage of revenues in constant currency decreased 
in the fiscal  2025 periods  presented, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, due to an increase in total  expenses  for this  bus iness .

Hardware Business

Our hardware bus iness ’ revenues are generated from the sales  of our Oracle Engineered Systems, server, s torage and industry-speci fic hardware offerings . The 
hardware product and related software, such as  an operating system or fi rmware, are highly interdependent and interrelated and are accounted for as  a  
combined performance obl igation. The revenues for this  combined performance obl igation are general ly recognized at the point in time that the hardware 
product is  del ivered to the customer and ownership is  transferred to the customer. Our hardware bus iness  a lso earns  revenues from the sale of hardware 
support contracts  purchased by our customers  at their option and that are general ly recognized as  revenues ratably as  the hardware support services  are 
del ivered over the contractual  term, which is  general ly one year. The majori ty of our hardware products  are sold through indirect channels  such as  independent 
distributors  and value-added resel lers  and we also market and sel l  our hardware products  through our direct sales  force. Operating expenses  associated with 
our hardware bus iness  include the cost of hardware products , which cons ists  of expenses  for materia ls  and labor used to produce these products  by our 
internal  manufacturing operations  or by third-party manufacturers , warranty and related expenses  and the impact of periodic changes  in inventory valuation, 
including the impact of inventory determined to be excess  and obsolete; the cost of materia ls  used to repair customer products  with el igible support contracts ; 
the cost of labor and infrastructure to provide support services; and sales  and marketing expenses, which are largely personnel  related and include variable 
compensation earned by our sales  force for the sales  of our hardware offerings .
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  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Hardware Revenues:                     
Americas  $ 348   -3%  -2%  $ 360   $ 987   -8%  -7%  $ 1,074  
EMEA   211   -13%  -11%   242    646   -4%  -4%   676  
As ia  Paci fic   144   -6%  -3%   152    453   -5%  -3%   474  

Total  revenues   703   -7%  -5%   754    2,086   -6%  -5%   2,224  
Expenses:                     
Hardware products  and support   187   -10%  -8%   208    499   -20%  -19%   623  
Sales  and marketing   66   -8%  -6%   72    201   -8%  -8%   220  

Total  expenses   253   -10%  -8%   280    700   -17%  -16%   843  
Total Margin  $ 450   -5%  -3%  $ 474   $ 1,386   0%  1%  $ 1,381  
Total Margin %  64%       63%   66%       62%  
% Revenues by Geography:                     
Americas  50%       48%   47%       48%  
EMEA  30%       32%   31%       31%  
As ia  Paci fic  20%       20%   22%       21%  
 

(1)Excludes stock-based compensation and certain expense allocations. Also excludes amortization of intangible assets and certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment results for 
purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

Total  hardware revenues decreased by $51 mi l l ion and $138 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, 
respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. Excluding the unfavorable impact of currency rate fluctuations  of 2% in the third quarter of fi scal  
2025 and 1% in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, the decrease in hardware revenues was primari ly due to our continued emphasis  on the marketing and sale 
of our cloud-based infrastructure technologies , which resulted in reduced sales  volumes of certain of our hardware product l ines  and also impacted the volume 
of hardware support contracts  sold in recent periods. Geographical ly, we experienced constant currency hardware revenue decl ines  in a l l  regions  in the fiscal  
2025 periods  presented.

Total  hardware expenses  decreased by $27 mi l l ion and $143 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, 
respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. The decrease in hardware expenses  a l igned with lower hardware revenues. Excluding the 
favorable currency rate fluctuations  effect of 2% in the third quarter of fi scal  2025 and 1% in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, the constant currency 
decrease in hardware expenses  was  due to a  $17 mi l l ion and a $116 mi l l ion decrease in hardware product and support costs  and a $4 mi l l ion and a $17 
mi l l ion decrease in sales  and marketing expenses, in each case during the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the 
corresponding prior year periods.

In constant currency, our hardware bus iness ’ total  margin decreased in the third quarter of fi scal  2025 due to lower total  revenues for this  bus iness , whi le our 
hardware bus iness ’ total  margin in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 increased due to lower total  expenses  for this  bus iness , in each case relative to the 
corresponding prior year period. In constant currency, our hardware bus iness ’ total  margin as  a  percentage of revenues increased in the fiscal  2025 periods  
presented, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, due to lower total  expenses  for this  bus iness .

Services Business

Our services  offerings  are des igned to help maximize the performance of customer investments  in Oracle appl ications  and infrastructure technologies  and 
include our consulting services  and advanced customer services  offerings . Services  revenues are general ly recognized over time as  the services  are performed. 
The cost of providing our services  cons ists  primari ly of personnel  related expenses, technology infrastructure expenditures , faci l i ties  expenses  and external  
contractor expenses. 

(1)

(1)

(1)
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  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Services Revenues:                     
Americas  $ 790   -2%  -1%  $ 808   $ 2,367   -8%  -7%  $ 2,566  
EMEA   333   -1%  2%   336    1,005   0%  1%   1,000  
As ia  Paci fic   168   3%  7%   163    513   5%  6%   492  

Total  revenues   1,291   -1%  1%   1,307    3,885   -4%  -3%   4,058  
Total Expenses   1,029   -8%  -6%   1,120    3,174   -7%  -7%   3,431  
Total Margin  $ 262   40%  42%  $ 187   $ 711   13%  14%  $ 627  
Total Margin %  20%       14%   18%       15%  
% Revenues by Geography:                     
Americas  61%       62%   61%       63%  
EMEA  26%       26%   26%       25%  
As ia  Paci fic  13%       12%   13%       12%  
 

(1)Excludes stock-based compensation and certain allocations. Also excludes certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment results for purposes of reporting to and review by our 
CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

Total  services  revenues decreased by $16 mi l l ion and $173 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, 
respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. Excluding the effects  of unfavorable currency rate fluctuation of 2% in the third quarter of fi scal  
2025, the increase in total  services  revenues was due to growth in our consulting services  revenues, partia l ly offset by a  decrease in our advanced customer 
services  revenues, relative to the corresponding prior year period. Excluding the effects  of unfavorable currency rate fluctuation of 1% in the fi rst nine months  of 
fi scal  2025, the decrease in total  services  revenues was due to a  decrease in revenues in each of our primary services  offerings , relative to the corresponding 
prior year period. The constant currency increase in services  revenues in the EMEA and the As ia  Paci fic regions  was  partia l ly offset by a  constant currency 
decrease in services  revenues in the Americas  region in the third quarter of fi scal  2025, whi le a  constant currency decrease in services  revenues in the Americas  
region was partia l ly offset by a  constant currency increase in services  revenues in the EMEA and the As ia  Paci fic regions  in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025.

Total  services  expenses  decreased by $91 mi l l ion and $257 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, 
respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods. Excluding the favorable effects  of currency rate fluctuations  of 2% in the third quarter of fi scal  
2025 and less  than 1% in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, the constant currency decrease in services  expenses  was  due to a  decrease in external  contractor 
expenses  of $25 mi l l ion and $130 mi l l ion and a decrease in employee related expenses  of $32 mi l l ion and $73 mi l l ion, in each case in the third quarter and the 
fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods.

In constant currency, our services  bus iness ’ total  margin and total  margin as  a  percentage of revenues increased in the fiscal  2025 periods  presented, relative 
to the corresponding prior year periods, due to lower total  expenses  for this  bus iness .

(1)
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Research and Development Expenses:   Research and development expenses  cons ist primari ly of personnel  related expenditures . We intend to continue to invest 
s igni ficantly in our research and development efforts  because, in our judgment, they are essentia l  to maintaining our competitive pos ition.
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Research and development  $ 1,754   5%  7%  $ 1,664   $ 5,304   5%  6%  $ 5,047  
Stock-based compensation   675   15%  15%   584    1,902   16%  16%   1,642  

Total  expenses  $ 2,429   8%  9%  $ 2,248   $ 7,206   8%  8%  $ 6,689  
% of Total Revenues  17%       17%   18%       17%  
 

(1)Excluding stock-based compensation

Total  research and development expenses  increased by $181 mi l l ion and $517 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of 
fi scal  2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, primari ly due to higher employee related expenses, including higher stock-based 
compensation expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses:   General  and administrative expenses  primari ly cons ist of personnel  related expenditures  for IT, finance, legal  and 
human resources  support functions.
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
General  and administrative  $ 289   3%  5%  $ 281   $ 849   -3%  -2%  $ 875  
Stock-based compensation   101   5%  5%   96    286   5%  5%   271  

Total  expenses  $ 390   3%  5%  $ 377   $ 1,135   -1%  0%  $ 1,146  
% of Total Revenues  3%       3%   3%       3%  
 

(1)Excluding stock-based compensation 

Fiscal Third Quarter 2025 Compared to Fiscal Third Quarter 2024:   Total  general  and administrative expenses  increased by $13 mi l l ion in reported currency in 
the third quarter of fi scal  2025, relative to the corresponding prior year period. Excluding the favorable effects  of currency rate fluctuations  of 2% in the third 
quarter of fi scal  2025, the increase in general  and administrative expenses  was  primari ly due to a  $13 mi l l ion increase in profess ional  fees  and a $10 mi l l ion 
increase in employee related expenses, including higher stock-based compensation expenses.

First Nine Months Fiscal 2025 Compared to First Nine Months Fiscal 2024:   Total  general  and administrative expenses  decreased by $11 mi l l ion in reported 
currency in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, relative to the corresponding prior year period. Excluding the favorable effects  of currency rate fluctuations  of 
1% in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, the decrease in general  and administrative expenses  was  primari ly due to a  $35 mi l l ion decrease in faci l i ties  and 
related expenses, partia l ly offset by a  $15 mi l l ion increase in stock-based compensation expenses.

Amortization of Intangible Assets:   Substantia l ly a l l  of our intangible assets  were acquired through our bus iness  combinations. We amortize our intangible 
assets  over, and monitor the appropriateness  of, the estimated useful  l ives  of these assets . We also periodical ly review these intangible assets  for potentia l  
impairment based upon relevant facts  and ci rcumstances. Refer to Note 6 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included in our Annual  Report on Form 
10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024 for additional  information regarding our intangible assets  and related amortization.
 

(1)

(1)
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  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Developed technology  $ 158   -7%  -7%  $ 170   $ 487   -4%  -4%  $ 507  
Cloud services and license support agreements and related 
relationships   156   -39%  -39%   253    558   -29%  -29%   781  
Cloud license and on-premise license agreements and related 
relationships   116   -1%  -1%   117    346   -1%  -1%   350  
Other   118   -44%  -44%   209    372   -41%  -41%   629  

Total amortization of intangible assets  $ 548   -27%  -27%  $ 749   $ 1,763   -22%  -22%  $ 2,267  

Amortization of intangible assets  decreased by $201 mi l l ion and $504 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, 
respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, due to a  reduction in expenses  associated with certain of our intangible assets  that became ful ly 
amortized.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses:   Acquis i tion related and other expenses  cons ist of personnel  related costs  for trans itional  and certain other 
employees, certain bus iness  combination adjustments , including adjustments  after the measurement period has  ended, and certain other operating i tems, net.
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Tra ns i ti ona l  a nd othe r e mpl oye e  re l a te d cos ts  $ —   -100%  -100%  $ 5   $ 3   -80%  -80%  $ 17  
Bus i ne s s  combi na ti on a djus tme nts , ne t   1   -77%  -78%   4    (4 )  *  *   17  
Othe r, ne t   27   -82%  -82%   146    73   -60%  -60%   180  

Tota l  a cqui s i ti on re l a te d a nd othe r e xpe ns e s  $ 28   -82%  -82%  $ 155   $ 72   -66%  -66%  $ 214  
 

* Not meaningful

Acquis i tion related and other expenses  decreased by $127 mi l l ion and $142 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third quarter and the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  
2025, respectively, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, primari ly due to a  $119 mi l l ion and a $107 mi l l ion decrease, respectively, in other 
expenses  primari ly related to asset impairment charges. The decrease in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 was also due to a  $21 mi l l ion decrease in bus iness  
combination adjustments , net, relative to the corresponding prior year period.

Restructuring Expenses:   Restructuring expenses  resulted from the execution of management-approved restructuring plans  that were general ly developed to 
improve our cost structure and/or operations, often in conjunction with our acquis i tion integration strategies  and/or other strategic ini tiatives . Restructuring 
expenses  cons ist of employee severance costs , contract termination costs  and certain other exi t costs  to improve our cost structure prospectively. For 
additional  information regarding our restructuring plans, see Note 4 of Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  
Quarterly Report and Note 8 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024.
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Restructuring expenses  $ 63   -30%  -28%  $ 90   $ 220   -29%  -29%  $ 311  
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Restructuring expenses  in each of the fiscal  2025 and 2024 periods  presented primari ly related to the 2024 Restructuring Plan. Our management approved, 
committed to and ini tiated the 2024 Restructuring Plan in order to restructure and further improve efficiencies  in our operations. We may incur additional  
restructuring expenses  in future periods  due to the ini tiation of new restructuring plans  or from changes  in estimated costs  associated with existing 
restructuring plans.

The majori ty of the ini tiatives  undertaken by the 2024 Restructuring Plan were effected to implement our continued emphasis  in developing, marketing, sel l ing 
and del ivering our cloud-based offerings . Certain of the cost savings  real ized pursuant to the 2024 Restructuring Plan ini tiatives  were offset by investments  in 
resources  and geographies  that we bel ieve better address  the development, marketing, sale and del ivery of our cloud-based offerings , including investments  in 
the development and del ivery of our second-generation cloud infrastructure.

Interest Expense:
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Interest expense  $ 892   2%  2%  $ 876   $ 2,600   -1%  -1%  $ 2,636  
 

Fiscal Third Quarter 2025 Compared to Fiscal Third Quarter 2024:   Interest expense increased in the third quarter of fi scal  2025, relative to the corresponding 
prior year period, primari ly due to the issuance of $14.0 bi l l ion of senior notes  in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, partia l ly offset by lower interest expense 
due to scheduled repayments  of borrowings  made during the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 and ful l  year of fi scal  2024. 

First Nine Months Fiscal 2025 Compared to First Nine Months Fiscal 2024:   Interest expense decreased in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, relative to the 
corresponding prior year period, primari ly due to scheduled repayments  of borrowings  made during the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 and ful l  year of fi scal  
2024, respectively, partia l ly offset by higher interest expense that resulted from the issuance of senior notes  mentioned above. Refer to Note 3 of Notes  to 
Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Quarterly Report for additional  information on the senior notes  issued in the fi rst nine 
months  of fi scal  2025.
 

Non-Operating (Expenses) Income, net:   Non-operating (expenses) income, net cons ists  primari ly of interest income, net foreign currency exchange losses , the 
noncontrol l ing interests  in the net profi ts  of our majori ty-owned subs idiaries  (primari ly Oracle Financial  Services  Software Limited and Oracle Corporation 
Japan), net losses  related to marketable and non-marketable investments , including losses  attributable to equity method investments  (primari ly Ampere) and 
net other income and expenses, including net unreal ized gains  and losses  from our investment portfol io related to our deferred compensation plan and non-
service net periodic pens ion income and losses .
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Interest income  $ 135   22%  23%  $ 111   $ 418   10%  10%  $ 380  
Foreign currency losses , net   (37 )  -38%  -38%   (59 )   (96 )  -44%  -46%   (172 )
Noncontrol l ing interests  in income   (48 )  -7%  -7%   (51 )   (138 )  7%  7%   (130 )
Losses  from marketable and non-marketable 
investments , net   (59 )  -36%  -36%   (94 )   (236 )  -19%  -19%   (290 )
Other (expenses) income, net   (9 )  *  *   84    91   -35%  -35%   140  

Total  non-operating (expenses) income, net
 $ (18 )  101%  91%  $ (9 )  $ 39   *  *  $ (72 )

 

* Not meaningful

Fiscal Third Quarter 2025 Compared to Fiscal Third Quarter 2024:   Our non-operating expenses, net increased by $9 mi l l ion in reported currency in the third 
quarter of fi scal  2025, relative to the corresponding prior year period, primari ly due to an increase in other expenses, net. The increase in other expenses  was  
primari ly attributable to 
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losses  in the third quarter of fi scal  2025, compared to gains  in the third quarter of fi scal  2024, associated with an investment portfol io that we held for our 
employee deferred compensation plan, and for which an equal  and offsetting amount was  recorded to our operating expenses  during the same period. This  
increase was partia l ly offset by a  $35 mi l l ion decrease in losses  from marketable and non-marketable investments , a  $24 mi l l ion increase in interest income 
and a $22 mi l l ion decrease in foreign currency losses .

First Nine Months Fiscal 2025 Compared to First Nine Months Fiscal 2024:   Our non-operating income, net increased by $111 mi l l ion in reported currency in the 
fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, relative to the corresponding prior year period, primari ly due to a  $76 mi l l ion decrease in foreign currency losses , a  $54 
mi l l ion decrease in losses  from marketable and non-marketable investments  and a $38 mi l l ion increase in interest income. These increases  were partia l ly 
offset by a  $49 mi l l ion decrease in other income, net, which was primari ly attributable to lower gains  associated with an investment portfol io that we held for 
our employee deferred compensation plan as  discussed above.

Provision for Income Taxes:   Our effective income tax rates  for each of the periods  presented were the result of the mix of income earned and losses  incurred in 
various  tax jurisdictions  that apply a  broad range of income tax rates . Refer to Note 7 of Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included 
elsewhere in this  Quarterly Report for a  discuss ion regarding the di fferences  between the effective income tax rates  as  presented for the periods  below and the 
U.S. federal  s tatutory income tax rates  that were in effect during these periods. Future effective tax rates  could be adversely affected by an unfavorable shi ft of 
earnings  weighted to jurisdictions  with higher tax rates , by unfavorable changes  in tax laws and regulations, by adverse rul ings  in tax related l i tigation, or by 
shortfal ls  in stock-based compensation real ized by employees  relative to stock-based compensation that was  recorded for book purposes, among others .
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,   February 28,   Percent Change  February 29,  
(Dollars in millions)  2025   Actual  Constant  2024   2025   Actual  Constant  2024  
Provis ion for income taxes  $ 512   10%  15%  $ 464   $ 992   56%  59%  $ 636  

Effective tax rate  14.9%       16.2%   9.9%       8.0%  

Fiscal Third Quarter 2025 Compared to Fiscal Third Quarter 2024:   Provis ion for income taxes  increased during the third quarter of fi scal  2025, relative to the 
corresponding prior year period, primari ly due to the absence of the real ization of a  one-time tax attribute of $197 mi l l ion, higher income before provis ion for 
income taxes  of $95 mi l l ion and an unfavorable jurisdictional  mix of $51 mi l l ion, partia l ly offset by the absence of changes  in unrecognized tax benefi ts  of 
$154 mi l l ion and an increase in tax benefi ts  related to stock-based compensation of $143 mi l l ion.

First Nine Months Fiscal 2025 Compared to First Nine Months Fiscal 2024:   Provis ion for income taxes  increased during the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, 
relative to the corresponding prior year period, primari ly due to an unfavorable jurisdictional  mix of earnings  of $365 mi l l ion, the absence of the real ization of 
a  one-time tax attribute of $247 mi l l ion, higher income before provis ion for income taxes  of $133 mi l l ion and the absence of the revaluation benefi t of net 
deferred tax assets  due to a  change in tax rate of $105 mi l l ion, partia l ly offset by an increase in tax benefi ts  related to stock-based compensation of $311 
mi l l ion and the absence of changes  in unrecognized tax benefi ts  of $207 mi l l ion.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

(Dollars in millions)  February 28,
2025

  Change  May 31,
2024

 

Working capital  $ 493   *  $ (8,990 )
Cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  $ 17,823   67%  $ 10,661  
 

* Not meaningful
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Working capital:   The increase in working capital  as  of February 28, 2025 in comparison to May 31, 2024 was primari ly due to favorable impacts  to our net 
current assets  resulting from net income and proceeds from the issuance of senior notes , net of i ssuance costs , of $13.9 bi l l ion (refer to Note 3 of Notes  to 
Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Quarterly Report for additional  information) during the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  
2025, partia l ly offset by $12.1 bi l l ion of cash used for capital  expenditures , $3.3 bi l l ion of cash used to pay dividends to our stockholders , €750 mi l l ion and 
$1.0 bi l l ion of long-term senior notes  that were reclass i fied to current l iabi l i ties , $450 mi l l ion of cash used for repurchases  of our common stock, $380 mi l l ion 
of net cash used for our employee stock programs and $178 mi l l ion of cash used for purchases, net of sales  and maturi ties  of non-current investments  during 
the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025. Our working capital  may be impacted by some or a l l  of the aforementioned factors  in future periods, the amounts  and 
timing of which are variable.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities:   Cash and cash equivalents  primari ly cons ist of deposits  held at major banks, money market funds  and other 
securi ties  with original  maturi ties  of 90 days  or less . Marketable securi ties  cons ist primari ly of time deposits  with original  maturi ties  at the time of purchase 
greater than 90 days. The increase in cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  as  of February 28, 2025 in comparison to May 31, 2024 was primari ly 
due to cash inflows from our operations  and proceeds from the issuance of senior notes , net of i ssuance costs , of $13.9 bi l l ion during the fi rst nine months  of 
fi scal  2025. This  increase was partia l ly offset by $12.1 bi l l ion of cash used for capital  expenditures , $4.5 bi l l ion of cash used for scheduled repayments  of 
borrowings  and commercial  paper notes , $3.3 bi l l ion of cash used to pay dividends to our stockholders , $450 mi l l ion of cash used for repurchases  of our 
common stock, $380 mi l l ion of net cash used for our employee stock programs and $169 mi l l ion of cash used for purchases, net of sales  and maturi ties  of non-
marketable investments  during the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025. Our cash and cash equivalents  may be impacted by some or a l l  of the aforementioned 
factors  in future periods, the amounts  and timing of which are variable.

  Nine Months Ended  

(Dollars in millions)  
February 28,

2025   Change  
February 29,

2024  
Net cash provided by operating activi ties  $ 14,664   16%  $ 12,592  
Net cash used for investing activi ties  $ (12,529 )  173%  $ (4,594 )
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activi ties  $ 4,912   *  $ (8,280 )
 

* Not meaningful

Cash flows from operating activities:   Our largest source of operating cash flows is  cash col lections  from our customers  fol lowing the purchase and renewal  of 
their cloud services  and l icense support agreements . Customers  for these cloud services  and l icense support agreements  are general ly bi l led in advance of 
services  being provided. Over the course of a  fi scal  year, we also generate cash from the sales  of new l icenses, hardware offerings  and other services . Our 
primary uses  of cash from operating activi ties  are typical ly for employee related expenditures , materia l  and manufacturing costs  related to the production of 
our hardware products , taxes, interest payments  and leased faci l i ties .

Net cash provided by operating activi ties  increased by $2.1 bi l l ion in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, relative to the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2024, 
primari ly due to higher net income adjusted for certain non-cash charges, partia l ly offset by certain cash unfavorable working capital  changes, net.

Cash flows from investing activities:   The changes  in cash flows from investing activi ties  primari ly relate to our investments  in capital  assets  primari ly to 
support the growth in our cloud and l icense bus iness  and acquis i tions, purchases, maturi ties  and sales  of our investments  in marketable securi ties  and other 
instruments .

Net cash used for investing activi ties  increased by $7.9 bi l l ion in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, relative to the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2024, primari ly 
due to the increase in capital  expenditures .

Cash flows from financing activities:   The changes  in cash flows from financing activi ties  primari ly relate to borrowings  and repayments  related to our debt 
instruments , s tock repurchases, dividend payments  and net proceeds related to employee stock programs.

Net cash provided by financing activi ties  was  $4.9 bi l l ion in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 compared to the net cash used for financing activi ties  of $8.3 
bi l l ion in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2024. The increase in net cash provided by financing activi ties  was  primari ly due to proceeds from the issuance of 
senior notes , net of i ssuance 
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costs , of $13.9 bi l l ion, lower net cash used for our employee stock programs of $1.0 bi l l ion and lower net cash used for repurchases  of common stock of $600 
mi l l ion, partia l ly offset by higher repayments  of commercial  paper notes  of $1.3 bi l l ion, net of i ssuances, higher scheduled repayments  of borrowings  of $641 
mi l l ion and higher net cash used for other activi ties  of $384 mi l l ion, in each case in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 relative to the fi rst nine months  of 
fi scal  2024. Further, during the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, we refinanced our Term Loan Credit Agreement (defined below), which resulted in no net impact 
on financing cash flows for the periods  reported.

Free cash flow:   To supplement our statements  of cash flows presented on a GAAP bas is , we use non-GAAP measures  of cash flows on a trai l ing 4-quarter bas is  
to analyze cash flows generated from our operations. We bel ieve that free cash flow is  a lso useful  as  one of the bases  for comparing our performance with that 
of our competitors . The presentation of non-GAAP free cash flow is  not meant to be cons idered in isolation or as  an al ternative to net income as  an indicator of 
our performance, or as  an al ternative to cash flows from operating activi ties  as  a  measure of l iquidity. We calculate free cash flow as  fol lows:
 
  Trailing 4-Quarters Ended  

(Dollars in millions)  
February 28,

2025   Change  
February 29,

2024  
Net cash provided by operating activi ties  $ 20,745   14%  $ 18,239  
Capital  expenditures   (14,933 )  150%   (5,981 )
Free cash flow  $ 5,812   -53%  $ 12,258  
Net income  $ 12,160     $ 10,642  
Net cash provided by operating activi ties  as  a  percent of net income  171%     171%  
Free cash flow as  percent of net income  48%     115%  

Recent Financing Activities:

Cash Dividends:   In March 2025, our Board of Directors  declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.50 per share of our outstanding common stock, an increase of 
$0.10 per share over the dividend declared in December 2024. The dividend is  payable on Apri l  23, 2025 to stockholders  of record as  of the close of bus iness  on 
Apri l  10, 2025. Future declarations  of dividends and the establ ishment of future record and payment dates  are subject to the final  determination of our Board of 
Directors .

Term Loan Credit Agreements:   On June 10, 2024, we terminated our term loan credit agreement that we entered into in fi scal  2023 and repaid the principal  
amount outstanding together with interest accrued up to the date of repayment. Simultaneously, we borrowed up to the maximum commitment amount of $5.6 
bi l l ion pursuant to a  term loan credit agreement (Term Loan Credit Agreement) executed on the same date. Any remaining unpaid principal  balance under the 
Term Loan Credit Agreement wi l l  become ful ly due and payable on August 16, 2027, unless  the termination date of Term Loan Credit Agreement is  extended. Refer 
to Note 7 of Notes  to Consol idated Financial  Statements  included in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024 for additional  
detai ls  about our borrowings.

Senior Notes:   During the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, we issued $14.0 bi l l ion of senior notes  comprised of the fol lowing:

•$500 mi l l ion of floating rate notes  due August 2028;

•$1.5 bi l l ion of 4.80% senior notes  due August 2028;

•$1.5 bi l l ion of 4.20% senior notes  due September 2029;

•$1.25 bi l l ion of 5.25% senior notes  due February 2032;

•$1.75 bi l l ion of 4.70% senior notes  due September 2034;

•$1.75 bi l l ion of 5.50% senior notes  due August 2035;

•$1.75 bi l l ion of 5.375% senior notes  due September 2054;

•$1.75 bi l l ion of 6.00% senior notes  due August 2055;

•$1.25 bi l l ion of 5.50% senior notes  due September 2064; and
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•$1.0 bi l l ion of 6.125% senior notes  due August 2065.

We issued the senior notes  to repay al l  or a  portion of senior notes  due between November 2024 and July 2026, and to pay accrued interest and any related 
premiums, fees  and expenses  in connection therewith; to make scheduled payments  of principal  and interest on borrowings  under our Term Loan Credit 
Agreement; to repay al l  or a  portion of commercial  paper notes  outstanding; and to use any remaining net proceeds from the borrowing for general  corporate 
purposes, which may include stock repurchases, payment of cash dividends on our common stock, repayment of other indebtedness  and future acquis i tions. 
Refer to Note 3 of Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Quarterly Report for additional  information.

Contractual Obligations:   During the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025, there were no s igni ficant changes  to our estimates  of future payments  under our fixed 
contractual  obl igations  and commitments  as  presented in Part II, Item 7 Management’s  Discuss ion and Analys is  of Financial  Condition and Results  of 
Operations  included in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024, other than an increase in our lease commitments  as  of February 
28, 2025. Refer to Note 1 of Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Quarterly Report and Note 10 of Notes  to 
Consol idated Financial  Statements  included in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024 for more information about our lease 
commitments . Additional ly, as  discussed above, we issued a total  of $14.0 bi l l ion of senior notes  in the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025 with various  maturi ty 
dates .

We bel ieve that our current cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties  balances, cash generated from operations, and our borrowing arrangements  wi l l  
be sufficient to meet our working capital , capital  expenditures  and contractual  obl igations  requirements . In addition, we bel ieve that we could fund our future 
acquis i tions, dividend payments  and repurchases  of common stock or debt with our internal ly avai lable cash, cash equivalents  and marketable securi ties , cash 
generated from operations, additional  borrowings  or from the issuance of additional  securi ties .

Stock-Based Awards

Our stock-based compensation program is  a  key component of the compensation package we provide to attract and retain certain of our ta lented employees  and 
al ign their interests  with the interests  of existing stockholders .

We recognize that stock-based awards  di lute existing stockholders  and have sought to control  the number of stock-based awards  granted whi le providing 
competitive compensation packages. Consistent with these dual  goals , our cumulative potentia l  di lution s ince June 1, 2021 has  been an annual ized rate of 1.7% 
per year. The potentia l  di lution percentage is  calculated as  the average annual ized new stock-based awards  granted and assumed, net of stock-based awards  
forfei ted by employees  leaving the company, divided by the weighted-average outstanding shares  during the calculation period. This  maximum potentia l  
di lution wi l l  only result i f a l l  s tock-based awards  vest and, i f appl icable, are exercised. Of the outstanding stock options  as  of February 28, 2025, which 
general ly have a ten-year exercise period, a l l  have exercise prices  lower than the market price of our common stock on such date. In recent years , our stock 
repurchase program has  substantia l ly offset the di lutive effect of our stock-based compensation program. However, we may modify the levels  of our stock 
repurchases  in the future depending on a number of factors , including the amount of cash we have avai lable for acquis i tions, to pay dividends, to repay or 
repurchase indebtedness  or for other purposes. As  of February 28, 2025, the maximum potentia l  di lution from al l  outstanding stock-based awards, regardless  
of when granted and regardless  of whether vested or unvested, was  5.8%.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accounting pronouncements , and the impact of these pronouncements  on our consol idated financial  s tatements , see Note 
1 of Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  included elsewhere in this  Quarterly Report.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There were no s igni ficant changes  to our quanti tative and qual i tative disclosures  about market risk during the fi rst nine months  of fi scal  2025. Please refer to 
Part II, Item 7A Quanti tative and Qual i tative Disclosures  about Market Risk included in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024 
for a  more complete discuss ion of the market risks  we encounter.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures:   Based on our management’s  evaluation (with the participation of our Principal  Executive and Financial  
Officer), as  of the end of the period covered by this  Quarterly Report, our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer has  concluded that our “disclosure controls  
and procedures” (as  defined in Rules  13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the information 
required to be disclosed by us  in our reports  fi led or submitted under the Exchange Act i s  recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time 
periods  speci fied in the Securi ties  and Exchange Commiss ion (the SEC)’s  rules  and forms and is  accumulated and communicated to our management (including 
our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer) as  appropriate to a l low timely decis ions  regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting:   There were no changes  in our internal  control  over financial  reporting identi fied in connection with the 
evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rules  13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurred during our last fi scal  quarter that have materia l ly affected, or are 
reasonably l ikely to materia l ly affect, our internal  control  over financial  reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls:   Our management, including our Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer, bel ieves  that our disclosure 
controls  and procedures  and internal  control  over financial  reporting are des igned to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives  and are 
effective at the reasonable assurance level . However, our management does  not expect that our disclosure controls  and procedures  or our internal  control  over 
financial  reporting wi l l  prevent a l l  errors  and al l  fraud. A control  system, no matter how wel l -conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives  of the control  system are met. Further, the des ign of a  control  system must reflect the fact that there are resource 
constraints  and the benefi ts  of controls  must be cons idered relative to their costs . Because of the inherent l imitations  in a l l  control  systems, no evaluation of 
controls  can provide absolute assurance that a l l  control  i ssues  and instances  of fraud, i f any, have been detected. These inherent l imitations  include the 
real i ties  that judgments  in decis ion making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of a  s imple error or mistake. Additional ly, controls  can be 
ci rcumvented by the individual  acts  of some persons, by col lus ion of two or more people or by management override of the controls . The des ign of any system of 
controls  a lso is  based in part upon certain assumptions  about the l ikel ihood of future events  and there can be no assurance that any des ign wi l l  succeed in 
achieving i ts  stated goals  under a l l  potentia l  future conditions; over time, controls  may become inadequate because of changes  in conditions, or the degree of 
compl iance with pol icies  or procedures  may deteriorate. Because of the inherent l imitations  in a  cost-effective control  system, misstatements  due to error or 
fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The materia l  set forth in Note 7 (pertaining to information regarding contingencies  related to our income taxes) and Note 10 (pertaining to information 
regarding legal  contingencies) of Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements  in Part I, Item 1 of this  Quarterly Report i s  incorporated herein by 
reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this  Quarterly Report, you should careful ly cons ider the factors  discussed in Part I, Item 1A Risk Factors  in our 
Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended May 31, 2024. The risks  discussed in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K could materia l ly affect our bus iness , 
financial  condition and future results . The risks  described in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K are not the only risks  facing us . Additional  risks  and uncertainties  
not currently known to us  or that we currently deem to be ins igni ficant a lso may materia l ly and adversely affect our bus iness , financial  condition or operating 
results  in the future.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Our Board of Directors  has  approved a program for us  to repurchase shares  of our common stock. As  of February 28, 2025, approximately $6.5 bi l l ion remained 
avai lable for stock repurchases  pursuant to our stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does  not have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activi ty wi l l  depend on factors  such as  our working capital  
needs, our cash requirements  for acquis i tions  and dividend payments , our debt repayment obl igations  or repurchases  of our debt, our stock price, and 
economic and market conditions. Our stock repurchases  may be effected from time to time through open market purchases  or pursuant to a  Rule 10b5-1 trading 
plan. Our stock repurchase program may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

The fol lowing table summarizes  the stock repurchase activi ty for the three months  ended February 28, 2025 and the approximate dol lar value of shares  that may 
yet be purchased pursuant to our stock repurchase program:
 

(in millions, except per share amounts)  
Total Number of

Shares
Purchased   

Average Price
Paid per
Share   

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced
Program   

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased

Under the Program  
De ce mbe r 1, 2024—De ce mbe r 31, 2024   0.3   $ 175.32    0.3   $ 6,610.6  
Ja nua ry 1, 2025—Ja nua ry 31, 2025   0.2   $ 164.41    0.2   $ 6,571.9  
Fe brua ry 1, 2025—Fe brua ry 28, 2025   0.4   $ 172.55    0.4   $ 6,512.3  

Tota l   0.9   $
171.29

   0.9     
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Item 5. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

Our Section 16 officers  and directors  (as  defined in Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act) may from time to time enter into plans  for the purchase or sale of Oracle 
stock that are intended to satis fy the affi rmative defense conditions  of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act. During the quarter ended February 28, 2025, the 
fol lowing Section 16 officer adopted, modified or terminated “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements” (as  defined in Item 408 under Regulation S-K of the Exchange 
Act):

•Jeffrey O. Henley, our Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors , adopted a new trading plan on December 31, 2024. Mr. Henley’s  plan is  scheduled to 
terminate on July 2, 2025, subject to early termination for certain speci fied events  set forth therein. The trading plan is  intended to permit Mr. Henley to 
exercise and sel l  400,000 stock options  expiring on July 2, 2025.

The Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement described above was adopted and precleared in accordance with Oracle’s  Ins ider Trading Pol icy and actual  sale 
transactions  made pursuant to such trading arrangements  wi l l  be disclosed publ icly in future Section 16 fi l ings  with the SEC.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 

Exhibit
No.

   Incorporated by Reference
 Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             

3.01  Amended and Restated Certi ficate of Incorporation of Oracle 
Corporation and Certi ficate of Amendment of Amended and 
Restated Certi ficate of Incorporation of Oracle Corporation

 8-K 12G3  000-51788  3.1  2/6/06  Oracle Corporation

             

3.02  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle Corporation  8-K  001-35992  3.02  11/17/23  Oracle Corporation
             

4.01  Forms of Floating Rate Notes  due 2028, 4.800% Notes  due 2028, 
5.250% Notes  due 2032, 5.500% Notes  due 2035, 6.000% Notes  
due 2055 and 6.125% Notes  due 2065, together with an Officers ' 
Certi ficate issued February 3, 2025 setting forth the terms of the 
Notes

 8-K  001-35992  4.1  2/3/25  Oracle Corporation

             

31.01‡  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certi fication of Principal  Executive 
and Financial  Officer

          

             

32.01†  Section 1350 Certi fication of Principal  Executive and Financial  
Officer

          

          

101‡  Interactive Data Fi les  Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, 
formatted in Inl ine XBRL: (i ) Condensed Consol idated Balance 
Sheets  as  of February 28, 2025 and May 31, 2024, (i i ) 
Condensed Consol idated Statements  of Operations  for the three 
and nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 
2024, (i i i ) Condensed Consol idated Statements  of 
Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months  ended 
February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024, (iv) Condensed 
Consol idated Statements  of Stockholders ’ Equity for the three 
and nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 
2024, (v) Condensed Consol idated Statements  of Cash Flows for 
the nine months  ended February 28, 2025 and February 29, 2024 
and (vi ) Notes  to Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements

          

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312506020874/dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312523279837/d606391dex302.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000119312525019281/d927919dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017025037143/orcl-ex31_01.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1341439/000095017025037143/orcl-ex32_01.htm
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Exhibit
No.

   Incorporated by Reference
 Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed By

             

104‡  The cover page from the Company’s  Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2025, formatted in 
Inl ine XBRL and included in Exhibit 101

          

             
 

‡ Filed herewith.
† Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements  of the Securi ties  Exchange Act of 1934, Oracle Corporation has  duly caused this  report to be s igned on i ts  behal f by the 
unders igned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
  ORACLE CORPORATION
   
Date: March 11, 2025  By:  /s/  Safra A. Catz

 
 

 

 

Safra A. Catz
Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer)

     
Date: March 11, 2025  By:  /s/  Maria  Smith
    Maria  Smith

  
 

 
Executive Vice Pres ident, Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal  Accounting Officer)

       




